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          2                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Good afternoon. I

          3  am Council Member Joel Rivera, Majority Leader of

          4  the City Council, and I'm the Chair of the Select

          5  Committee on Charter Revision.

          6                 I'd like to welcome you here today to

          7  this joint hearing by the Select Committee on

          8  Charter Revision and the Contracts Committee.

          9                 We are also joined today my members

         10  of the Committee, to my far left we have Council

         11  Member Kendall Stewart, we have Councilwoman Diana

         12  Reyna, we have our illustrious chair of the

         13  Contracts Committee Robert Jackson, and I know we

         14  have other members that are on their way.

         15                 This is the first of three hearings

         16  that the Select Committee on Charter Revision will

         17  be holding to examine the process followed by the

         18  2003 Charter Revision Commission, and the ballot

         19  proposals put forth by that Commission.

         20                 Today's hearing will focus on

         21  question number four, which relates the City

         22  purchasing. The hearing on October 16th will address

         23  questions number five, or the government

         24  administration proposals and the hearing on October

         25  23rd, 2003, will address question number three of
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          2  the City's election proposals.

          3                 Throughout all of these hearings the

          4  Committee will be examining the process followed by

          5  the Commission on whether the public had ample

          6  opportunity to fully comment on the proposals which

          7  are currently on the ballot, and we've just been

          8  joined by Council Member Larry Seabrook from the

          9  Bronx.

         10                 This year's Charter Revision

         11  Commission is the fifth such commission created by a

         12  mayor in the past six years. It is of concern for

         13  this Committee that this Administration is

         14  continuing with the recent trend to set up a Charter

         15  Revision Commission almost every single year.

         16                 These Commissions should not be a

         17  regular part of governance of our City. In fact,

         18  what they do is disrupt the balance of powers in the

         19  City's governance and usurp the role of the

         20  legislative branch of New York City government and

         21  the City Council.

         22                 The advanced legislative changes

         23  without the benefit of thorough deliberation that is

         24  inherent to the legislative process.

         25                 The short duration of each commission
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          2  is also problematic. While this year's Commission

          3  met a few months longer than last year's commission,

          4  the first substantive meeting of the Commission was

          5  on May 12th, 2003, and the vote on the ballot

          6  question was on August 25th, 2003. So the Commission

          7  essentially met for just over three months.

          8                 The summer months to discuss complex

          9  procurement-related issues, agency reorganization

         10  and nonpartisan elections.

         11                 The notion that the public would have

         12  sufficient time to comment and that the Commission

         13  would have sufficient time to analyze the complex

         14  procurement proposals being put forth by the

         15  Commission for a vote in November is ludicrous.

         16                 Some of the Commission's proposals,

         17  such as the proposal to reduce requirement for the

         18  DSBS employment reports receive basically no public

         19  comment at all.

         20                 Other proposals, such as exempting

         21  security-related contracts from the public notice

         22  requirements, seems to have appeared on the

         23  Commission's agenda essentially out of nowhere.

         24                 In addition to the fact that these

         25  proposals seem to have mysteriously appeared on the
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          2  Commission's agenda, and that there was not

          3  sufficient public comment on these proposals, the

          4  Committee has found that the Commission is not

          5  sufficiently educating voters about the ballot

          6  questions.

          7                 In fact, when my Committee staff

          8  contacted good government and community groups, most

          9  of those groups were not aware of the many

         10  procurement related proposals, and when their

         11  committee invited the Charter Revision Commissioners

         12  to this hearing, to answer questions about those

         13  proposals and outreach efforts, the Commissioners

         14  have refused to attend.

         15                 Finally, even the language on the

         16  ballot questions is extremely problematic. The

         17  ballot questions do not contain specific details and

         18  are confusing to voters. The Commission has combined

         19  approximately ten specific amendments into six vague

         20  and emphasized bullet points.

         21                 How can the public be expected to

         22  make an informed decision while in the voting booth

         23  and especially participate in the political process.

         24                 I will now turn to my colleague with

         25  whom I am co-chairing this hearing, who will also
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          2  give introductory remarks and describe a package of

          3  the Council's proposed legislation.

          4                 Thank you, Council Member Jackson.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you,

          6  Majority Leader. I appreciate the opportunity in

          7  order to share this joint hearing with you as the

          8  Chair of the Select Committee on Charter Revision.

          9                 Let me begin by recognizing my

         10  colleagues on the Contracts Committee, Dr. Kendall

         11  Stewart to my extreme left from Brooklyn, Council

         12  Member Yvette Clarke sitting next to him from

         13  Brooklyn, and those are the other members of the

         14  Contracts Committee and they may be in joint members

         15  of the Select Committee.

         16                 The staff of the Committee, Regina

         17  Poreda, our principal legislative financial analyst,

         18  is to my left, and Sarah Seidman is here somewhere.

         19  Over there to my left.

         20                 This afternoon, the Committee on

         21  Contracts, along with the Select Committee on

         22  Charter Reform, will be conducting a hearing on the

         23  Charter Revision Commission procurement proposals.

         24                 .

         25                 Specifically the Committee will
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          2  consider two of the Commission's proposed changes to

          3  the Charter.

          4                 First, the Committee will hear

          5  testimony regarding the Commission's proposal to

          6  eliminate Charter provisions that currently require

          7  that specific information on employment practices

          8  and policies be included in employment reports

          9  submitted by City contractors to the Department of

         10  Small Business Services.

         11                 These reports provide vital

         12  information which form the basis for DSBS

         13  Commissioner to determine contractor compliance with

         14  equal opportunity, equal employment requirements.

         15                 This proposal would also potentially

         16  eliminate Charter mandated penalties for failure to

         17  comply with employment report requirements.

         18                 Following this discussion, the

         19  Committees will then hear testimony regarding the

         20  Commission's proposals to amend the Charter to

         21  reduce, "required procedures for security-related

         22  contract."

         23                 This proposal would create an

         24  exception to the existing public notice and hearing

         25  requirements contained in the Charter for situations
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          2  per mayoral determination, where the notice or

          3  hearings would disclose information that could be

          4  detrimental to the security of the City or its

          5  people.

          6                 The Council will examine the issues

          7  and concerns surrounding both the Charter proposals

          8  and will inquire into their potential short- and

          9  long-term implications.

         10                 While the need to modernize and

         11  streamline the City procurement process is

         12  undisputed, the Charter Revision Commission's

         13  proposals, if adopted, would make significant

         14  changes to the City procurement process, without any

         15  benefit of debate and deliberations that the

         16  legislative process would provide.

         17                 Expecting the average voter to

         18  determine what is in the best interest of the City

         19  on such a complicated issue with such limited

         20  information, is careless at best and irresponsible

         21  at worst.

         22                 If any area of City governance

         23  warrants the benefit of public discourse and debate

         24  that the legislative process provides, the City's

         25  procurement system clearly merits such thorough
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          2  consideration.

          3                 Further, the Council has been working

          4  actively on legislative efforts for procurement

          5  reform for the past 18 months and has recently

          6  introduced its most comprehensive procurement reform

          7  package to date.

          8                 Following the testimony on the

          9  Commission's proposals, the Committee will then hear

         10  testimony on the Council's legislative procurement

         11  package.

         12                 Now I turn to you, Mr. Chair. Please

         13  call our first witness.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         15  much.

         16                 First, I would like to call Dr. Frank

         17  J. Macchiarola, Chair of the Charter Revision

         18  Commission, and any and all other members of the

         19  Charter Commission, please come forward and give

         20  your testimony.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Is the Chair of

         22  the Charter Commission in the house? Are any members

         23  of the Commission present here this afternoon?

         24                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Seeing there are

         25  none, the Committees were informed by the City
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          2  Legislative Affairs, that although we invited to

          3  attend the Commissioners to attend this hearing,

          4  they would not attend. So, the Administration

          5  refused to send the Charter Revision Commissioners,

          6  in spite of the statement by the Executive Director

          7  of the Charter Commission at the September 15th,

          8  2003 meeting of the Commission that Commission staff

          9  members and the Commissioners would be available to

         10  various organizations, to describe the questions

         11  that will be on the ballot.

         12                 The Director also noted that they

         13  have said yes to everybody who has requested that

         14  the Commission speak to the panels to provide

         15  further information and education regarding the

         16  ballot proposals. This is on page 7 8 (sic) of the

         17  transcript.

         18                 In spite of these commendable words

         19  by the Commission's Executive Director at that

         20  meeting, the Commission has refused to send anyone

         21  to the Council hearings.

         22                 How are we supposed to be fully

         23  informed on the ballot questions, so that we can go

         24  back to our communities and inform our constituents

         25  about what is actually being asked if the Commission
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          2  refuses to come to our hearings and to our valid

          3  questions.

          4                 After informing us that the Charter

          5  Commissioners would not be attending the hearing,

          6  the Office of City Legislative Affairs has informed

          7  us that they would be sending staff from the Charter

          8  Commission. Specifically the Commission's general

          9  counsel, would Anthony Crowell, the General Counsel

         10  to the Charter Revision, please step forward. Just

         11  for information, he is not here as well.

         12                 It appears that the Commission has

         13  refused to send even staff to answer the Council's

         14  very important questions on legislative matters to

         15  the legislative body. This is absolutely

         16  unacceptable.

         17                 I will now read into the record some

         18  of the questions we in the City Council and the

         19  public need to have answered concerning the ballot

         20  questions that are being placed before voters this

         21  November.

         22                 Question one, first I'll go to the

         23  process question, then I'll hand it over towards my

         24  co-chair for procurement questions.

         25                 Please explain the reason for
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          2  legislating public ballot propositions year after

          3  year? We have seen one mayoral charter commission

          4  after another formed, composed of members

          5  hand-picked by the Mayor, not beholden to the public

          6  with no other apparent purpose than to put the

          7  Mayoral approved ballot questions, after ballot

          8  questions before the electorate, to make changes to

          9  the Charter that do not in fact require public

         10  referendum.

         11                 Do you have concerns about this

         12  process?

         13                 Let me be clear, I trust the public

         14  to do the right thing, but my problem is that the

         15  informational basis, is the public being asked to

         16  make these changes, and the time frame in reference

         17  to is the public being educated in what these actual

         18  ballot questions mean, and are they being mislead?

         19  And obviously we're not joined here today by the

         20  Charter Commission, and so, obviously, they may have

         21  something to hide.

         22                 Look at the ballot questions. We have

         23  here examples of what the actual ballot will look

         24  like when you enter the voting booth, and there's a

         25  couple of problems with the way it's formatted, but
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          2  we'll touch base on a couple of them.

          3                 Do they really provide sufficient

          4  information to the public to base its decision on?

          5  When the public goes into the voting booth and they

          6  see question one, two, three, four, five or six, do

          7  they actually know what that small fine print

          8  paragraph means, or are they being asked the

          9  questions that they have not been educated on within

         10  the couple of months that the Charter Revision was

         11  in existence?

         12                 We also have serious concerns about

         13  whether the ballot questions reflect the actual

         14  charter amendments that voters are being asked to

         15  approve.

         16                 For example, one proposal would amend

         17  subdivision E of Section 1305 of the Charter so that

         18  contractors are no longer required to provide the

         19  Commissioner of Small Business Services with an

         20  employment report that includes employment

         21  practices, policies, procedures and statistics.

         22  Please show us where the proposal is in the ballot

         23  questions.

         24                 That is something that is not even

         25  being asked to be voted on, that's something that
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          2  will be implemented with the approval of the

          3  referendum, so it's one way that this entire process

          4  is misleading to the voters and they're not being

          5  informed of exactly what will be the ramifications

          6  if some of these proposals will be passed.

          7                 Were there any proposals placed on

          8  the ballot for this fall that were not approved by

          9  the Administration. Besides the state ones and

         10  besides number six, I believe they are all mayoral

         11  picks from the Charter Revision Commission.

         12                 How many of the Commission's staff

         13  are Mayoral or Mayoral agency employees?

         14                 Now, that's something that we really

         15  have to ask and we really have to think about,

         16  because obviously the Charter Revision Commission

         17  can be steered by the staff and since the staff has

         18  been revolving, since it has been the same staff

         19  from year-to-year, that is a substantial amount of

         20  influence on the staff side, which is beholden to

         21  the Mayor, opposed to the actual Charter Revision,

         22  which theoretically should be out there getting

         23  questions from the community and addressing the

         24  issues with the constituents of the City of New

         25  York. So, that's something that we wish we would get
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          2  an answer to today.

          3                 Concerning the procurement proposal

          4  on security contracting that appears as part of

          5  ballot question number four, how many people

          6  testified before the Charter Commission on the

          7  proposal regarding security contracting?

          8                 At this point in time I now turn to

          9  my colleague and co-chair of this hearing, Council

         10  Member Jackson, who I believe has additional

         11  questions that he would like to ask the Charter

         12  Revision Commission, if they were here.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you.

         14  First, let me just say that this is an outrage. I

         15  mean, in the greatest City in the world, where the

         16  Mayor has put together a self-appointed commission,

         17  charter commission, that is supposedly objective,

         18  and the chair, to the best of my knowledge, on the

         19  first day that he was appointed said his job was to

         20  make sure that the whole issue of nonpartisan

         21  elections is on the ballot.

         22                 I went to one of the Commission's

         23  hearings and gave testimony in Manhattan, and I say

         24  to you that I was not met with the most courteous

         25  type of environment. It seems as though many people

                                                            18

          1  CHARTER REVISION AND CONTRACTS

          2  on the Commission already had their minds made up,

          3  even though they were there to solicit testimony.

          4  And for them to not show today when this legislative

          5  body, whose job and responsibility is to represent 8

          6  million New Yorkers, the people of New York City,

          7  and not give us the opportunity to ask them

          8  questions about the process that they've used in

          9  order to come to the conclusions that they have, and

         10  as questions specifically about issues that were not

         11  discussed or even presented in their preliminary

         12  papers, is totally unacceptable and is a sham and

         13  the Mayor and his Charter Commission should be

         14  ashamed of themselves, because I am ashamed of them

         15  as supposedly a City that is democratic, and where

         16  we try to achieve openness and fair play on all

         17  matters in front of us. So, I am not happy at all.

         18                 And I think that this City Council

         19  should consider whether or not we need to subpoena

         20  the Charter Commission to come in front of us, even

         21  though there may be a question on whether or not we

         22  have subpoena power over them. But I think that we

         23  should even do that, and let's battle it out in the

         24  legal process, because I think by doing that, that

         25  will show the people of New York City it's a shame
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          2  that we as their elected representatives do not have

          3  the opportunity to ask questions of individuals that

          4  could ultimately make laws without under the

          5  scrutiny of the public disclosure.

          6                 And before I read the questions, if

          7  you don't mind, Mr. Chair, I would like to ask

          8  whether or not other members present have any

          9  comments as to the no show of the Chairman and the

         10  other Commission members of the Charter Commission.

         11  Is that okay with you?

         12                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Of course. Does

         13  any other members have any other statements in

         14  regard to the lack of respect the Charter Revision

         15  has for this legislative body?

         16                 First we have Councilwoman Yvette

         17  Clarke from Brooklyn.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you, Mr.

         19  Chair. And thank you, both Chairs. I'd just like to

         20  add my voice to my colleagues in saying that this is

         21  truly an outrage, that the Administration does not

         22  see fit to take this issue as seriously as they

         23  would have the people of the City of New York take

         24  this issue.

         25                 These ballot proposals will uniquely
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          2  change the way in which the City of New York does

          3  business, the way in which we relate to government.

          4  And, so, you know, to play this off as some sort of

          5  a political stunt is really, you know, it does not

          6  speak well about this Administration and its intent

          7  on behalf of the people that we're all supposed to

          8  represent.

          9                 But Mr. Chairs, I have to tell you,

         10  I've been through similar circumstances before in

         11  the commissioning of a fire blue ribbon, Fire

         12  Department Blue Ribbon Commission, and often times

         13  when people want to politically advance their own

         14  goals and aspirations, they set up situations that

         15  enable them to essentially railroad their will into

         16  the public domain.

         17                 So, I see this as yet another attempt

         18  to do so.

         19                 The people of this City deserve

         20  better. We deserve an Administration that is

         21  sensitive and can stand on its own two feet to

         22  substantiate what direction it's taking the people

         23  of the City of New York.

         24                 Today it indicates to me that there's

         25  a problem, and it's a very serious problem about
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          2  integrity, quite frankly. What type of

          3  administration are we dealing with here where not

          4  even a staff person from this Commission, which,

          5  again, is paid for by taxpayer dollars, could not

          6  even be here to educate, inform and substantiate

          7  these ballot measures that are going to be placed on

          8  the ballot, on its relationship to who we are as

          9  citizens of the City of New York.

         10                 So, I'd like for this Committee to

         11  certainly send a letter admonishing the

         12  Administration for not doing its job. They have an

         13  obligation to be here, just like we have an

         14  obligation to be here.

         15                 That Administration, through its

         16  administrators and most of all its head, which is

         17  the Mayor, have an obligation to the people that

         18  elected them to be here to substantiate the

         19  positions that they want to place this City in. So,

         20  Mr. Chairs, I'd like to just add my voice of disgust

         21  at this sham.

         22                 Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Any other

         24  members?

         25                 Dr. Stewart.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Thank you,

          3  Mr. Chair.

          4                 I just feel very much disappointed

          5  that we have a no show. I thought that this process

          6  is an open process and we should not be using

          7  tactics to fool the people, and this reminds me of

          8  the process of by any means necessary and I thought

          9  we have gotten away from that, and if we are going

         10  to put some proposal on the ballot, I think the

         11  public needs to know what the proposals are, and not

         12  cover it up, not sugarcoat it, just say and explain

         13  exactly what it is.

         14                 So, I just want to add my voice to

         15  this that right here we are so disappointed that no

         16  one is here to really explain from the

         17  Administration side as to why the attempt to use

         18  this cover-up in terms of put in this proposal in

         19  this form, and I hope that we will at least change

         20  from this type of havoc and do the right thing, let

         21  the people know what has to be done and so that we

         22  can be doing the best thing for the City of New

         23  York.

         24                 Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you,
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          2  Council Member Stewart.

          3                 We now have Council Member Larry

          4  Seabrook.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Thank you

          6  very much, Mr. Chairman and both chairs. It's

          7  certainly important for us to be here. It would be

          8  to a great degree of importance to have the Charter

          9  Commission here to deal with serious questions and

         10  concerns that we have in a City that's predominantly

         11  women and minority members and discuss an issue that

         12  deals with procurement and other involvements that

         13  would change how our business is done in this City,

         14  is an insult to the majority of the population in

         15  the City of New York as it relates to women and

         16  minority members. And so this is clearly an insult

         17  and this Administration has clearly demonstrated

         18  from time to time that they have no desires to be

         19  fair and just as it relates to women and minorities

         20  in this government. And, so, I think it's important

         21  to have them here, to talk about this, if we're

         22  talking about changing the way this City do

         23  business, that certainly we should have the

         24  opportunity as a legislative body to hear this

         25  because this is going to affect the daily lives
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          2  again of the majority of people in this City which

          3  happen to be women and minority members, and that's

          4  the importance of having this Commission.

          5                 Here. So, I think it's incumbent that

          6  they're here.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Any other

          8  statements?

          9                 Okay, we just got an update on how

         10  many staffers came from the Mayor's office. Every

         11  single staff member on the Charter Revision

         12  Commission came from the Mayor's Office or the

         13  Mayor's agencies. So, if you want to talk about a

         14  sham, that is a blatant sham from the inception,

         15  when the Mayor stated it will be on the ballot, to

         16  one the Chair said he's going to put it on the

         17  ballot before the Commission even met, to now when

         18  we find out that every staff member came from the

         19  Mayor's Office. So, it's no wonder that they are not

         20  here today. So, at this point I would like to hand

         21  it back over to my co-chair.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you.

         23                 And let's be clear. I'm going to

         24  communicate with all of you that are here for this

         25  hearing, and for the press that are available, these
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          2  are the questions that would have been asked of the

          3  Chair of the Charter Commission, Dr. Frank

          4  Macchiarola, and here they are:

          5                 Concerning security, questions for

          6  the Charter Revision Commissioners. One, and I'll be

          7  glad to hand these questions to anyone afterwards,

          8  maybe somebody needs to ask them directly since they

          9  won't come to a hearing.

         10                 Generally, pursuant to the rules of

         11  the PPB, Procurement Policy Board, each agency must

         12  public notice of the solicitation of bids or

         13  proposals where the value of the contract is

         14  estimated to be above the small purchase limit,

         15  except where the solicitation is limited to

         16  prequalify vendors.

         17                 One of the proposals creates an

         18  acceptance to these notice requirements where the

         19  notice was, quote, disclosed information or

         20  strategies that may be detrimental to the security

         21  of the City or a citizen as determined by the

         22  Mayor."

         23                 My question is, Doctor, how would the

         24  Mayor determine if information would be detrimental

         25  to the security of the City? Is there an answer?
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          2                 What factors would the Mayor

          3  consider?

          4                 Should I go ask the Mayor?

          5                 Can you give us an example of items

          6  that could hypothetically, Doctor, be included?

          7                 You don't know? Okay.

          8                 Let me ask another question, then.

          9  Under this proposal, how would quote/unquote

         10  security be defined? Do you have an answer, Doctor?

         11                 What does this vague definition

         12  ensure that there will be any kind of distinction

         13  between contracts of any kind?

         14                 Who will make that determination?

         15                 Isn't it true that absent any

         16  criteria or standards to limit the Mayor's

         17  discretion practically? Any purchase for the City's

         18  uniformed services could be encompassed by this

         19  category; for example, fire truck radios, police

         20  vehicles, boats, helicopters, sanitation trucks,

         21  uniforms. What about horses? What about purchase for

         22  DoITT, the technology and our Internet should surely

         23  be worked within this broad definition; don't you

         24  believe that's true? No answer, okay.

         25                 Number two: How many agencies, and
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          2  people would know, of a security-related purchase?

          3  Well, you don't have to write the questions down,

          4  I'll be glad to give you these when I'm finished.

          5                 Wouldn't all such contracts still be

          6  reviewed by the Mayor's Office of Contracts? The Law

          7  Department? The Purchasing agency? The Department of

          8  Small Business Services and the Comptroller's

          9  Office?

         10                 Let me ask a third question then, if

         11  you can't answer the first two. Has the City ever

         12  made a purchase the public knowledge of which put

         13  the security of the City or its citizenry, the

         14  citizens of New York at risk? How many

         15  security-related items have been ordered since 9/11?

         16                 More specifically, how were these

         17  purchases made absent the proposed Charter change?

         18                 Were these purchases made in

         19  conformity with current Charter and PPB

         20  requirements? If so, then why is the proposed

         21  Charter change contained in ballot question number

         22  four necessary?

         23                 If not, on whose authority were these

         24  purchases made and how many times were the Charter

         25  procurement requirements violated?
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          2                 Well, these are questions that we

          3  were ready to ask of the Charter Commission

          4  Chairman, and of any of the other commissioners that

          5  were invited this afternoon, or any of the staff

          6  members, and believe me, some of these questions are

          7  appropriate and may be asked of the Mayor's Office

          8  of Contracts. But since the Charter Commission is

          9  the one that puts forward these initiatives, I

         10  wanted to ask them these questions.

         11                 But let me ask number four then,

         12  maybe the General Counsel of the Charter Commission

         13  can answer these.

         14                 How many people testified regarding

         15  these proposals? Council staff has thoroughly

         16  reviewed the available transcripts of both the

         17  Commission's hearings and meetings and has found

         18  only one reference to this proposal at the July

         19  24th, 2003 meeting, by a Simon Bellow (phonetic),

         20  who appeared to testify on behalf of the Police

         21  Department.

         22                 Did anyone else testify at the

         23  Charter Commission's public hearings regarding

         24  security-related procurement? If so, who? And please

         25  tell us when? No answer.
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          2                 Let me ask question number five. By

          3  the way, transcripts for the July 17th, 2003

          4  Commission hearings in Queens and the Commission's

          5  July 30th meeting in Manhattan are not posted on the

          6  Commission's website. The Commission's

          7  communications director was asked about this several

          8  weeks ago, however, as of this morning these

          9  transcripts are still not posted on the website.

         10                 Given that the Commission is

         11  committed to public outreach, does the Commission

         12  intend to correct this problem at any time before

         13  the November election? No answer.

         14                 How is the Council, this body,

         15  supposed to do oversight on security-related

         16  purchases? If the Council is doing oversight, where

         17  is the secrecy?

         18                 Well, Mr. Chair, quite frankly, we

         19  have not received any responses either in response

         20  to the question that I've asked this afternoon, or

         21  any indication that the Commissioner is willing to

         22  respond. So, maybe the members of the public, you

         23  have a right to ask, and members of the press, you

         24  have a right to ask these questions, and I'll be

         25  glad to provide these questions so maybe if you ask
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          2  as a member of the public, or if you ask as a member

          3  of the press, maybe you may receive an answer.

          4                 Thank you very much.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

          6  much. At this point in time I would like to open up

          7  the floor for any of the Committee members to ask

          8  any questions to the absent Commission, and

          9  hopefully, by the 16th of October or the 23rd, maybe

         10  they'll have the foresight to furnish us with the

         11  answers to those questions.

         12                 Are there any questions from the

         13  Committee?

         14                 One thing I also heard is why don't

         15  we just leave it up to the voters and let them

         16  decide? Well, one of the analogies that I gave them

         17  is when we send our children to school, they go

         18  through a whole entire semester preparing for the

         19  final examination. They're not even given ample

         20  opportunity to be able to get proper information to

         21  make an educated decision on something that really

         22  affects the government, and that is exactly why we

         23  are here today.

         24                 Now I would like to proceed and allow

         25  the public, who has joined us here today, to come
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          2  forward, and give their testimony. We will first

          3  start off with Bonnie Brower from City Project,

          4  Megan Quattlebaum, I hope I pronounced the name

          5  correctly, from Common Cause/New York, and Susan

          6  Stetzer from Coalition for a District Alternative,

          7  and after this panel we'll be hearing from Marla

          8  Simpson, Director of the Mayor's Office of

          9  Contracts.

         10                 And due to time constraints, we will

         11  have a three minute rule for the testimony, for all

         12  of those testifying.

         13                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Please raise

         14  your right hand. Do you swear that the testimony

         15  you're about to provide to the Council members is

         16  the truth and that you will answer all questions

         17  truthfully?

         18                 MS. STETZER: Yes.

         19                 MS. BROWER: Yes.

         20                 MS. QUATTLEBAUM: Yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         22  much. You may proceed with your testimony. State

         23  your name into the microphone, your organization,

         24  and your testimony.

         25                 MS. BROWER: Mr. Chairman, Mr.
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          2  Chairman, members of the Council, my name is Bonnie

          3  Brower, I'm Executive Director of City Project, the

          4  other budget watchdog that tries to look out for the

          5  interest of the less powerful, the less visible, we

          6  also focus on the City's fiscal and management

          7  issues, which is why I'm here today, and we

          8  appreciate the opportunity to comment on the current

          9  Charter Revision Commission's far-reaching proposals

         10  for changes in the City's structure and policies and

         11  procedures for purchasing and contracting goods and

         12  services.

         13                 As the Charter Commission itself

         14  declared in its very lengthy final report, which I

         15  suspect maybe ten people in the City have read, the

         16  City's purchase of goods and services plays, quote,

         17  a central role in the City's ability to function and

         18  to deliver services to its citizens, end quote.

         19                 This reason alone, coupled with the

         20  annual expenditure of that $8 billion in taxpayer

         21  money, would warrant a thorough review of the

         22  system. The system is outdated, cumbersome,

         23  inefficient and often grossly unfair aspects certain

         24  merit comprehensive reform, which City Projects

         25  urged over three years ago. But review and reform
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          2  should be undertaken, we submit, through the

          3  legislative process, not by referendum.

          4                 Before, and maybe I won't get to deal

          5  with the specifics, including security and

          6  employment, my written testimony does address it,

          7  I'd like to focus on a larger picture of concerns

          8  that we have. We believe that the actual substance

          9  of the proposal do have some good ideas, they also

         10  have many bad ideas, and overall they have tons of

         11  ideas that don't belong in the referendum, and I

         12  think that the uneven quality of the ballot proposal

         13  is actually the predictable result, at least in part

         14  of the very flawed and inadequate process that was

         15  used, specifically the Commission's few late spring

         16  and height of summer public hearing which occurred

         17  under the shadow of and, frankly, were buried by the

         18  900 pound guerilla of the electoral issue, almost

         19  ensured that the very complex issues and very

         20  significant issues contained in here would receive

         21  short shrift which they have.

         22                 This critical area of City government

         23  to this day has received almost no media or public

         24  attention, yet if passed, this referendum must

         25  fundamentally alter the balance of power between the
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          2  Executive and Legislative branches of this City's

          3  government and will profoundly transform the way the

          4  City conducts the major part of its business.

          5                 Because of the lack of attention,

          6  because of the lack of education, we believe that

          7  unfortunately most of the voting public will be

          8  woefully ignorant of the many complicated

          9  provisions, and more importantly, of the significant

         10  impact that these changes would have.  As a result,

         11  I tend to look at this particular valid question as

         12  a stealth campaign.

         13                 I would say that there is one part of

         14  the thrust of the proposal that we actually do

         15  support, and that is the general approach of

         16  removing from the City Charter many of the minute

         17  details governing procurement, since these don't

         18  amount to the kind and level of principals of

         19  governance that should be the core of any

         20  constitution, including our City Charter.

         21                 In fact, many of the current

         22  procurement provisions are indeed inflexible,

         23  unnecessary specific and subject to being quickly

         24  outdated. We think that these kinds of issues are

         25  more appropriately dealt with through legislation
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          2  and also administrative policies and regulation.

          3                 However, however we believe strongly

          4  that increased flexibility and generality in the

          5  Charter require inclusion of an explicit statement

          6  of the actual principles and guidelines that will

          7  govern the exercise of greater discretion, we also

          8  believe equally strongly that increased flexibility

          9  in generality require greatly increased legislative

         10  oversight, transparency and accountability to ensure

         11  that the Charter's broad and general provisions will

         12  be administered fairly, effectively and with

         13  integrity.

         14                 But instead of including these

         15  components, specific principles and also more

         16  accountability and more transparency, the Charter

         17  proposal is completely contradictory, and on the

         18  whole winds up decreasing public accountability and

         19  transparency. We find this result particularly

         20  ironic since from its very beginning the Bloomberg

         21  Administration has publicly trumpeted not only the

         22  need for far greater transparency and accountability

         23  in City government, but its own commitment to

         24  practicing these qualities. It had a chance to do it

         25  here, it didn't.
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          2                 The one other point I want to make

          3  specifically, and let me just say that I find the

          4  security provisions absolutely indefensible and

          5  unconscionable, as I do the changes in the

          6  employment reporting requirements and the mandatory

          7  penalties for failure, but the one issue I want to

          8  say that specifically is referred to is that one of

          9  the things that's most concern to us is that with

         10  the vastly increased powers that are being conferred

         11  on the Policy Procurement Board and with its

         12  greatly-expanded discretion, its composition is

         13  remaining the same. And I would like to suggest that

         14  we think that the entity that most closely parallels

         15  the function and importance of the PPB in its new

         16  state would be the Rent Guidelines Board, and while

         17  its composition is far from perfect, and its

         18  procedures are far from ideal, it nonetheless is a

         19  body that attempts to be inclusive, attempts to be

         20  representative, and it is mandated to do its

         21  business in public. None of those provisions are

         22  being built into this greatly empowered Procurement

         23  Policy Board that's being posed here, and I think

         24  that alone should be enough to defeat this

         25  referendum.
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          2                 Finally, I would just say that in

          3  light of the truly total lack of information and

          4  education out in the City generally, I would hope

          5  that the City Council will use its bully-pulpet

          6  powers to get the word out to your own constituents

          7  that overall, even though certain decent things are

          8  in this, this proposal needs to be defeated and

          9  brought back through legislation, and I assure you,

         10  City Project will do what is in our projects to do

         11  the same.

         12                 Thank you very much.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you.

         14                 I would also like the stress the fact

         15  that we should stay within the three-minute

         16  guidelines because we do have a number of witnesses

         17  that would like to come up here and testify before

         18  us here today. So, next.

         19                 MS. BROWER: My apology.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: No, it's okay.

         21                 Three minutes. Thank you.

         22                 MS. QUATTLEBAUM: Good afternoon. My

         23  name is Megan Quattlebaum. I am the Associate

         24  Director of Common Cause/New York, and I'm going to

         25  keep my comments very brief, but I'm happy to take
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          2  questions at the end.

          3                 Common Cause/New York appreciates the

          4  opportunity to testify before this Committee, at

          5  these committees.

          6                 As a civic organization with 15,000

          7  members in New York and 200,000 members nationwide,

          8  that seeks to give citizens a voice in the political

          9  process. We take very seriously any proposed change

         10  to New York City's democracy.

         11                 We are here today to prevent our

         12  views on the defective process by which the most

         13  recent Charter Revision Commission placed questions

         14  on the ballot for this November.

         15                 As you know, this City has had an

         16  unprecedented five Charter Commissions in the last

         17  six years. All have lacked independence and none

         18  have had sufficient time to fully research the

         19  questions being considered or meaningfully involve

         20  the public.

         21                 Criticisms of the Charter Revision

         22  process have been strongly expressed my many civic

         23  leaders, including Common Cause/New York throughout

         24  these years.

         25                 As we all know, nonpartisan elections
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          2  took center stage among the issues being debated by

          3  the most recent Commission.

          4                 We have followed the question as it

          5  has arisen each summer for the past few years, but

          6  are still deeply concerned as we sit before you

          7  today, about the process and content put forward by

          8  past commissions and the current Commission.

          9                 To have a Commission state its

         10  intention to place an issue on the ballot before

         11  debating it, and hearing from the public, is

         12  disheartening, especially when concerning an issue

         13  as crucial as this one.

         14                 Nevertheless, our concerns over the

         15  Commission's decision-making process are not limited

         16  to a single issue. There are specific steps needed

         17  to ensure real transparent and open debate on any

         18  issue of the Commission or future commissions might

         19  consider.

         20                 First, as has been mentioned earlier

         21  in the day, the Commission must be independent of

         22  the Mayor so the public can be assured of a neutral

         23  discussion, and it's crucial that the staff is

         24  independent as well, especially in a case like the

         25  one received today where a Mayor is a publicly
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          2  acknowledged supporter of certain charter revisions

          3  and the Commission appointed by the Mayor votes to

          4  place those questions on the ballot, the appearance

          5  of a Commission beholden to the Mayor developed in

          6  the public mind.

          7                 Furthermore, whatever question is

          8  being debated, dozens of hearings and forums should

          9  be held throughout the year, not just during the

         10  summer, to ensure full discussion of all relevant

         11  concerns.

         12                 The process by which the questions

         13  were placed on the ballot for this November cannot

         14  be remedied after the fact. Nevertheless, changes,

         15  such as those we have suggested today are essential

         16  to ensure the independence, openness and public

         17  accountability of any future commissions.

         18                 I urge this Council to explore ways

         19  to reclaim this process for the people of New York.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         22  much.

         23                 Are there any questions for the

         24  panel? We have Dr. Stewart.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Thank you,
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          2  Mr. Chair.

          3                 Megan, I have a simple question. You

          4  cited that there's a defective process, and also the

          5  criticisms of the Charter Revision process, has

          6  there been any letter-writing campaign, or anything

          7  of that nature so as to bring this attention to the

          8  forefront, let people know that something is wrong

          9  here?

         10                 MS. QUATTLEBAUM: To a certain extent,

         11  yes, and to a certain extent I think that will be

         12  happening more in the future. Common Cause, as I

         13  mentioned, is an organization with 15,000 members in

         14  New York, and we fully intend to alert our members

         15  by phone call and to our newsletter about our

         16  concerns over the process for placing these

         17  questions on the ballot. And obviously we would want

         18  to do that, giving the voters enough time to have

         19  this information before November.

         20                 I know that other civic groups

         21  throughout New York City have also made efforts to

         22  do that, although I can't speak to their specific

         23  efforts. But I do think to the extent that we were

         24  able Common Cause has attempted to alert our members

         25  and the general public to our process concerns.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Do you

          3  believe that that process alone would be enough to

          4  bring the total awareness of this problem to the

          5  voters before November election?

          6                 MS. QUATTLEBAUM: It needs to be known

          7  by the public and we hope that other civic

          8  organizations and elected officials like yourself

          9  will also do as you can to let people know.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Thank you,

         11  Chair.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Council Member

         13  Diana Reyna.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Hi. Good

         15  afternoon, to both of you, and thank you for coming

         16  to testify.

         17                 I wanted to just take this

         18  opportunity to ask if either of you have visited the

         19  web site on the Board of Elections concerning

         20  November 4th election on these proposals?

         21                 MS. BROWER: I haven't gone to the

         22  Board of Elections' website. We did go to the

         23  Commission's website last week and downloaded their

         24  almost 500-page report, which as I say, I doubt very

         25  many people in the City of New York are going to

                                                            43

          1  CHARTER REVISION AND CONTRACTS

          2  bother doing.

          3                 The whole issue of lack of knowledge,

          4  lack of information, lack of education, lack of

          5  awareness that there's anything on the ballot beyond

          6  the so-called nonpartisan election is

          7  extraordinarily troubling, and I noticed today,

          8  unless I'm wrong, I don't even think there's a

          9  representative of the New York Times here covering

         10  this hearing. That's pathetic.

         11                 So, if you did want to read the text

         12  of the proposals, they make no sense absent reading

         13  the report, but if you read the report, you assume

         14  that certain things are in the text that aren't, as

         15  has already been pointed out.

         16                 So, the flaws in the process are so

         17  overwhelming that, you know, I think they should be

         18  enough to defeat the substance. The substance is

         19  problematic itself, but I really worry that people

         20  are just going to go into the ballot and either just

         21  vote okay because it seems like a technical,

         22  insignificant issue, or will just ignore it and a

         23  handful of people will decide the fate of

         24  procurement in the City of New York, which is

         25  equally scary.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Is it fair to

          3  ask, have either of your organizations taken the

          4  opportunity to have a poll where a phone banking one

          5  day campaign, just to find out how many voters out

          6  there out of X number are aware that there are six

          7  proposal questions on the actual ballot for November

          8  4th?

          9                 MS. BROWER: We don't have the

         10  capacity to do that, frankly.

         11                 MS. QUATTLEBAUM: Common Cause

         12  similarly doesn't have the capacity to undertake a

         13  broad grouping poll of all of New York City voters,

         14  but we will be phone banking to our members and

         15  others in New York City to let them know about our

         16  concerns.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: So at this

         18  moment we don't know how many voters out there

         19  really actually know what's happening on November

         20  4th, other than City Council members being elected

         21  and judges?

         22                 MS. BROWER: If I were a betting

         23  person, I would bet very few. Very few know of

         24  anything other than elections in their own district

         25  and possibly the so-called nonpartisan election
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          2  quote reform end quote proposal.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Any other

          5  questions? Thank you, Megan. Thank you, Bonnie, for

          6  joining us.

          7                 Before we call up the next witness

          8  which was going to be Susan Stetzer, I would like to

          9  bring up Marla Simpson because she is on a time

         10  constraint now to get back to work.

         11                 So, Marla Simpson, Director of

         12  Mayor's Office of Contracts.

         13                 Thank you very much, Marla.

         14                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: If you could

         15  please raise your right hand.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: We swear in.

         17                 MS. SIMPSON: I've testified before

         18  this Committee many times.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: The Committee on

         20  --

         21                 MS. SIMPSON: Contracts.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: The Select

         23  Committee on Charter Revision. And we swear in

         24  everyone that testifies before us.

         25                 MS. SIMPSON: Oh. I just need to check
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          2  with one thing, okay? Excuse me a second. No

          3  problem, just excuse me a second.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: As long as you're

          5  going to say the truth, then there's no problem.

          6                 MS. SIMPSON: I always do. I've been

          7  in front of the Council probably once a month for

          8  seven months and this is the first occasion when

          9  this was asked.

         10                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Do you swear or

         11  affirm that the testimony you're about to provide to

         12  Council members will be the truth, and you will

         13  answer all questions truthfully?

         14                 MS. SIMPSON: I do.

         15                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: All right, thank

         17  you very much. Proceed.

         18                 MS. SIMPSON: Good afternoon, Chairman

         19  Jackson, Chairman Rivera, and Council members.

         20                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         21  appear here today to discuss the procurement reform

         22  proposal appearing before New York City voters as

         23  question number four on the November 4th ballot, as

         24  well as Intro. Nos 542 through 543. I'll also touch

         25  on managerial and regulatory reforms that are
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          2  related as I go along.

          3                 According to the recently released

          4  data from FY '03, we spent more than $9 billion to

          5  obtain goods and to deliver services in the City

          6  through contracts. Our challenge in dealing with

          7  procurement mirrors the challenge to government as a

          8  whole. We must ensure that tax dollars produce real

          9  value, which in the procurement world means fair

         10  prices, high quality and timely delivery of what we

         11  need.

         12                 But our process is cumbersome in ways

         13  that do not add value and indeed add cost.

         14                 Innovative companies decline the

         15  opportunity to do business with us and take their

         16  business elsewhere. We impose unnecessary obstacles

         17  for small local business, but cannot negotiate our

         18  process.

         19                 During economic downturns we missed

         20  the chance to capitalize on the availability of

         21  inexpensive goods and services.

         22                 In rapidly evolving areas like

         23  technology, we often miss the market entirely so

         24  that by the time we secure goods or services,

         25  they're already out of date.
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          2                 This happens not just because we take

          3  too long, but because our process lacks flexibility.

          4                 Markets are elastic, but our

          5  procurement process is not. To achieve real reform,

          6  we must address delay, duplication and frustration

          7  that are inherent in a process that evades

          8  accountability, runs on outdated technology and

          9  includes inflexible legal mandates that discourage

         10  innovation.

         11                 Our reforms implement three key

         12  principles: 1) there is no quick fix to obtain real

         13  savings or quality improvements. There is no

         14  substitute for old fashioned management.

         15                 2) Streamlining the process and

         16  empowering City agencies to manage their contracts

         17  are achievable short-term goals.

         18                 Already, as I've testified in front

         19  of, Chairman Jackson's Committee, we've eliminated

         20  many unnecessary oversight steps and delegated

         21  additional authority to agencies. Those actions have

         22  shortened the process in time for 65 percent of City

         23  procurement.

         24                 Despite fiscal constraints, we target

         25  investment in technology that will allow vendors and
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          2  the public to get real time access to information

          3  and will allow City agencies to purchase quickly and

          4  inexpensively.

          5                 The 2003 Charter Revision Commission

          6  addressed the inflexibility built into the Charter

          7  and recognized that it hamstrings both the City and

          8  our vendors because it prevents us from adapting as

          9  needs evolve.

         10                 The Commission determined that the

         11  Procurement Policy Board would be well suited to

         12  provide the needed flexibility and governance. The

         13  central element of the Charter proposal, therefore,

         14  would permit the PPB to set the terms and conditions

         15  for each procurement that we are currently allowed

         16  to use under state law.

         17                 Several other proposed Charter

         18  reforms also address the need for flexibility. The

         19  first would allow the Department of Citywide

         20  Administrative Services, DCAS, to delegate to

         21  agencies that use certain kinds of unique goods,

         22  such as bomb-diffusing robots, the authority to

         23  purchase those goods on their own without rooting

         24  the purchases through DCAS.

         25                 We appreciate the Council's support
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          2  for that concept through Intro. No. 550.

          3                 Another proposal would permit the

          4  Mayor to determine when specific procurements raised

          5  security-related concerns, such that full disclosure

          6  would put the safety of New Yorkers at risk.

          7                 This provision would allow the Mayor

          8  to exempt such sensitive procurements from public

          9  notice and hearing requirements. It is similar to

         10  the law enforcement-related exceptions from the

         11  freedom of information disclosure that have been in

         12  effect for decades.

         13                 Going back to those bomb-diffusing

         14  robots, as well as equipment of even greater

         15  technological sophistication that our emergency

         16  responders now-a-days require, in today's often

         17  frightening world it doesn't make sense in every

         18  instance to publish the details of what we buy.

         19  Indeed in some cases it may be unwise even to

         20  identify publicly what companies are providing the

         21  equipment.

         22                 Attached to my testimony is a copy of

         23  the statement of the Police Commissioner, Raymond W.

         24  Kelly, concerning this Charter proposal.

         25                 I note that under the Charter
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          2  emergency purchases are limited to purchases that

          3  are done to address sudden and unforeseen events.

          4  That is not only a Charter requirement, but that is

          5  a mandate in state law under which we operate.

          6                 Sadly, security-related purchases are

          7  not unforeseen. Today the Mayor and his

          8  commissioners have to plan for security-related

          9  purchases. That takes them outside the legal scope

         10  of the Charter's existing emergency section.

         11                 However, under the Charter proposal,

         12  the Mayor could exempt these purchases from notice

         13  and hearing requirements, but other oversight

         14  reviews and protections for the public interest

         15  would remain in place. They include the checks by

         16  the Law Department, the Department of Investigation,

         17  the Budget Office, the Comptroller, who is an

         18  independently elected official. In some instances

         19  those purchases also require the approval of the

         20  Mayor or Deputy Mayor.

         21                 Several other provisions in the

         22  proposed Charter package are designed to ensure

         23  accountability and put an end to late contracting

         24  patterns. First, the proposal would mandate a

         25  comprehensive annual procurement report that would
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          2  focus on timeliness. We've taken steps to implement

          3  that request administratively, but we welcome its

          4  inclusion in the Charter.

          5                 The PPB would also be required to

          6  establish the rules to improve the timeliness on

          7  professionalism of procurements and of contract

          8  administration.

          9                 This would include timetables for

         10  completing the required actions, remedies for

         11  failure to meet those schedules, and professional

         12  certification rules for Agency Chief Contracting

         13  Officers.

         14                 In the Human Services area, the other

         15  reform would require the PPB to develop an expedited

         16  renewal process, an improved annual contract

         17  planning tool on standards to facilitate greater

         18  reliance by agencies on a single annual financial

         19  audit, similar to procedures that are now at the

         20  federal level.

         21                 Again, we're gratified by the

         22  Council's support of these concepts, as reflected in

         23  Intros No. 545 and 543, but we note that several

         24  provisions of those bills cannot lawfully be enacted

         25  absent a referendum, because they would curtail the
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          2  Mayor's powers and in some respects the

          3  Comptroller's powers as well.

          4                 While Intro. Nos 544 and 551 present

          5  fewer problems, we caution that it is inherently

          6  difficult to legislate common sense or sound

          7  management, which is what the annual human services

          8  plan really ought to embody.

          9                 The requirement of a plan has existed

         10  for many years in the PPB rules. The terms of those

         11  rules are virtually identical to what Intro. 551

         12  would enshrine in the Charter, but those terms have

         13  not produced the reform that we all want, in part

         14  because the plan has never been managed with that

         15  goal in mind until this year.

         16                 I have enclosed with my testimony a

         17  copy of a draft format for this year's annual plan

         18  which is due under the rules on November 15th.

         19                 This plan, the terms of which are set

         20  by my office under existing PPB rules is now a

         21  contract-by-contract vendor-by-vendor action plan

         22  for how each Human Services agency would propose to

         23  act in a timely manner and ensure that its vendors

         24  can be duly paid.

         25                 Converting this longstanding planning
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          2  mandate into a more useful weapon against

          3  retroactivity was an idea that we adopted from

          4  recommendations of many of our critics, including

          5  the Human Services Council.

          6                 This year's format also includes the

          7  basic elements of the concept plan that is reflected

          8  in Intro. No. 544. We are making that concept plan

          9  applicable to any new program initiative, and to any

         10  existing program for which a substantial

         11  restructuring is anticipated.

         12                 We want to use this year's plan to

         13  pilot that approach, without enshrining in statute,

         14  as we want to be sure that the new mandate does not

         15  divert focus from the fundamental corrective actions

         16  that are needed to ensure timely registration of

         17  these contracts.

         18                 Frankly, I do not yet know if the

         19  version that we've proposed of the annual plan,

         20  together with our intensive focus on timeliness,

         21  will succeed. But if it falls short, we have the

         22  flexibility to tighten the process further and adapt

         23  the tool to meet our needs. I urge the Council to

         24  work with us providing oversight of our efforts to

         25  manage the plan, rather than layering on another
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          2  Charter mandate that will be difficult to adjust as

          3  we may need.

          4                 Intro. No. 542, even more so than

          5  551, runs counter to the goal of speeding up

          6  procurement. It makes no sense to try and substitute

          7  an affidavit for the submission of required

          8  documents. Often those documents are required by

          9  underlying state or federal programs, or are

         10  actually part of what the evaluators look at as they

         11  review proposals to make procurement awards.

         12                 The only consequence of this bill

         13  would be another confusing form for vendors, another

         14  form letter for agencies to use, as they request the

         15  same documents and more delay.

         16                 The Charter package would begin a

         17  process to modernize Vendex, which is our antiquated

         18  vendor integrity system.

         19                 The database design is now dictated

         20  by the law's 26 subparagraphs which specify what

         21  vendors must file, the timing of filing,

         22  consequences for failure to file and limited

         23  exceptions.

         24                 This one size fits all system is very

         25  burdensome to vendors and yet fails to provide the
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          2  data that we need in a useful format. Last year,

          3  without about 2,600 contracts of $100,000 or more,

          4  including about 1,000 that were over a million, we

          5  processed 26,492 Vendex forms with current

          6  technology we could design a much more sophisticated

          7  system with different reporting requirements,

          8  depending on variables such as the nature and the

          9  value of the contract, procurement method and

         10  industry.

         11                 We would very much welcome the

         12  opportunity to discuss with the Council and the

         13  Comptroller the kinds of fundamental changes that we

         14  need to bring Vendex into the 21st century.

         15                 To the extent that this is part of

         16  the goal of Intro. 546, we share it, but that bill

         17  will not solve our problems.

         18                 It provides for centralized filing,

         19  but the current law does that already. Vendex became

         20  decentralized because of management decisions that

         21  were made over time. As I testified last month

         22  before the Contracts Committee, we have changed that

         23  policy. This winter, when the new forms take effect,

         24  Vendex will work as the law originally was designed.

         25  Vendors will file one document once every three
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          2  years centrally and will update their information

          3  only when it actually changes.

          4                 Electronic filing is far more

          5  complicated than the bill would suggest. We're not

          6  avoiding electronic filing because we somehow don't

          7  want to get there. Electronic filing hasn't been

          8  achieved for any comparable system anywhere.

          9                 The most analogous, for example, is

         10  the federal 990 return which is used by

         11  not-for-profit organizations, and also to file with

         12  the IRS and it's also used for most state,

         13  charities, regulatory filing, including the Attorney

         14  General, State of New York. That system is still not

         15  electronic, although the IRS has been working for

         16  many years on that project and hopes to achieve an

         17  electronic capability within the next two years.

         18                 Like Vendex, the 990 contains data

         19  that is partly public and partly confidential,

         20  creating a system that makes public information

         21  available in real time with sufficient legal

         22  safeguards also to ensure that deliberate

         23  misrepresentations can be prosecuted is a very

         24  complex task. We can and will achieve the goal but

         25  first we should look carefully at what data we
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          2  collect in the first place, what dollar thresholds

          3  make sense. Do we really need the same data from day

          4  care providers that we need from waste disposal

          5  companies? Where we already have a complex set of

          6  state or federal regulations, such as for Article 28

          7  health facilities, or for not-for-profits that file

          8  with the AG's office, do we really need a separate

          9  Vendex at all, or should we capture the relevant

         10  data from the filings that already exist.

         11                 We do no favors for either vendors or

         12  City agencies if we leave Vendex intact and somehow

         13  manage to develop electronic filing.

         14                 We must target the mandate of Vendex

         15  to what we really need and then make it easier to

         16  follow.

         17                 While we're on the subject of

         18  impediments to an electronic process, the proposed

         19  Charter revisions also are designed to replace

         20  another paper-intensive part of our integrity review

         21  process with a more flexible tool.

         22                 The Division of Labor Services and

         23  the Department of Small Business Services monitors

         24  compliance with Equal Employment Opportunity Laws

         25  and prevailing wage requirements by requiring

                                                            59

          1  CHARTER REVISION AND CONTRACTS

          2  vendors to submit employment reports.

          3                 Those reports detail information on

          4  employment practices, policies and procedures and

          5  collective bargaining agreements.

          6                 In addition to the report itself,

          7  current Charter language requires vendors to submit

          8  voluminous documents often amount to thousands of

          9  pages. I have with me a single example of what those

         10  files look like. This is from a single

         11  not-for-profit in response to the required

         12  documentation under the current Charter language.

         13                 Further, the Charter requires those

         14  submissions to be made repeatedly, even after only

         15  two years have passed since the vendor first gave us

         16  the same several thousand pages of material.

         17                 The proposed Charter revision would

         18  permit DSBS to better serve the City's interest and

         19  vendors' interest by streamlining the process. DSBS

         20  would undertake a comprehensive view to update the

         21  rules for this program, and would examine the most

         22  effective way to operate to determine whether that

         23  would be to reduce the filing requirement or

         24  structure the review process so that documents would

         25  be submitted only as staff requested them and
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          2  particular items were needed.

          3                 A comprehensive audit would support

          4  this approach when an initial employment report

          5  triggered a need for further information. Staff time

          6  and resources could be targeted to the substantive

          7  aspects of this program, and would include enhancing

          8  the technical assistance to help vendors avoid

          9  violations in the first place.

         10                 The Charter revisions would not have

         11  an immediate impact on this process. Any decision to

         12  change the submission requirements would be affected

         13  through a public rule-making process pursuant to the

         14  City Administrative Procedures Act.

         15                 Moreover, the Charter mandate for the

         16  filing of employment reports would remain unchanged

         17  itself, so vendors would still be required to file

         18  the comprehensive report.

         19                 One additional significant Charter

         20  reform proposal is the incorporation of a legal

         21  mandate for a Citywide coordination of efforts to

         22  expand opportunity for businesses that are women or

         23  minority owned locally-based businesses and other

         24  small businesses to allow them to participate better

         25  as vendors to the City, increasing their economic
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          2  viability, and furthering competition and

          3  procurement.

          4                 Turning to the other bills on the

          5  Council's agenda, to varying degrees the Charter

          6  amendments that are contained in Intros No. 546, 547

          7  and 548 constitute curtailment of mayoral contract

          8  administration powers and cannot lawfully be enacted

          9  regarding referendums. The attempt to devise a local

         10  version of the State contracting law ignores the

         11  very real and very different legal constraints that

         12  apply to City procurement.

         13                 We have some drafting issues with the

         14  bill, but it is clear that no City agency would have

         15  the legal or budgetary authority to instruct vendors

         16  to maintain services in the absence of contracts, as

         17  this bill seems to suggest.

         18                 On discretionary items, apart from

         19  the bill's clause, the solution to a pervasive

         20  problem of late contracting is probably not simply

         21  to put discretionary items at the head of the line.

         22  This could jeopardize timely processing of many

         23  larger initiatives, which while they are technically

         24  not discretionary items, are of equal importance to

         25  Council members and your constituencies.
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          2                 Instead, we want to streamline the

          3  process for discretionary contracts, require fewer

          4  oversight approvals, for instance. We'd like to join

          5  with you and your staff to explore ways in which we

          6  can speed communication about these items and create

          7  short-form contract documents to implement

          8  discretionary items.

          9                 Requiring that vendors have five days

         10  to review draft contracts is inappropriate

         11  micromanagement for this Charter.

         12                 Multi-million dollar Human Services

         13  contracts are not used cars being sold to

         14  unsuspecting customers. Any vendor who wants to

         15  review a contract can have as long as he or she

         16  wants. Any vendor who feels abused by the agencies,

         17  which do sometimes try to rush signatures on

         18  contracts that are already late, can just pick up

         19  the telephone and call my office and I will happily

         20  intercede.

         21                 I will conclude with a few comments

         22  concerning the remaining two bills that I have not

         23  yet mentioned. With respect to Intro. 542, requiring

         24  the posting of RFPs and solicitation documents,

         25  again, we do not believe there is any reason to

                                                            63

          1  CHARTER REVISION AND CONTRACTS

          2  adopt a statutory mandate any more than there is a

          3  mandate for the vast content that is already posted

          4  on the City website on other subjects.

          5                 We're on track now to have

          6  solicitation material posted on the web in the near

          7  future. This is part of the next expansion phase of

          8  the on-line City Record project and the date for

          9  that project's occurrence is quite close. We're

         10  working on trying to make sure that the

         11  functionality works before we turn it on.

         12                 We have a legal obligation, as you

         13  know, to ensure that when an interested vendor

         14  downloads the announcement, they also receive

         15  addenda and changes to solicitation as they occur,

         16  and a legal obligation to keep records of which

         17  vendors pick up solicitations in this manner.

         18                 It is complicated by the fact that

         19  when people download things from the web, they often

         20  record themselves under, shall we say pseudonyms,

         21  but we do, when we have this capacity we do

         22  meticulously give addenda the Mickey Mouse.

         23                 We must ensure that the functionality

         24  on the City Record site works before we move

         25  forward. As soon as it does, we'll add these
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          2  postings to the on-line City Record, and I'll be

          3  happy to keep the Committee fully abreast of our

          4  progress on this project as it proceeds.

          5                 As for the reverse auction pilot

          6  project that is envisioned by Intro. 543, there are

          7  some more serious legal flaws with the bill's

          8  approach. One concern is the strong preference that

          9  is enshrined in Section 103 of the General Municipal

         10  Law for competitive sealed bidding.

         11                 Additional difficulties are presented

         12  by Section 3813 of the current Charter, as well as

         13  state laws that make it difficult for the City to

         14  establish procurement opportunities that are

         15  exclusively available electronically.

         16                 However, we've identified an

         17  appropriate option for conducting electronic reverse

         18  auctions. The State of New York has an existing

         19  contract with a vendor that hosts such services. We

         20  now plan to use the state vendor to conduct the

         21  pilot program in which each of the specific reversed

         22  auctions that would be hosted would also become

         23  state intergovernmental contracts, and those are

         24  permitted under the Charter.

         25                 We can use this pilot to determine
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          2  long-term feasibility of this technique and its

          3  potentially, if any, for cost savings.

          4                 Thank you for the opportunity to

          5  share these concerns today. I'm available to answer

          6  any questions you may have, including any ones of

          7  the questions that you indicated earlier that you

          8  would be interested in having answered in the

          9  procurement area.

         10                 Thank you very much.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you for

         12  giving us your report and commenting on the

         13  proposals that are in front of us or intros, I know

         14  this is not an easy situation, but dealing with

         15  contracts and procurement to the tune, as you say,

         16  for $9 billion, is a very, very serious issue and as

         17  a Chair of the Contracts Committee, I know that it's

         18  not a juicy, dicey type of issue.

         19                 MS. SIMPSON: I think, Mr. Chairman,

         20  you and I are probably its two biggest fans, as the

         21  subject matter.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And it is pretty

         23  dry overall, but when you consider that out of a $44

         24  billion budget, $9 billion is a lot of money and we

         25  must make sure that the $9 billion is spent wisely,
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          2  effectively, and it has the oversight responsibility

          3  that we have as City legislators on behalf of the 8

          4  million people that we represent.

          5                 So, I thank you for coming in this

          6  afternoon, and before I go to any questions, I'm

          7  going to open the floor to any of my colleagues that

          8  may have questions, which is my normal --

          9                 MS. SIMPSON: Mr. Chairman, let me

         10  just correct the record in one small respect.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Sure.

         12                 MS. SIMPSON: I don't want to mix up

         13  apples and oranges for people. The $9 billion which

         14  I take from the FY '03 data that we publish as part

         15  of the annual procurement indicators that came out

         16  with the MMR, that includes both capital and

         17  expense.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

         19                 MS. SIMPSON: A rough cut on the

         20  expense side of that is about 6 billion, and so of

         21  your 44 billion expense budget, a rough cut would

         22  put it at about six.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

         24                 MS. SIMPSON: Okay, the nine includes

         25  the other capital.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: That's good to

          3  know. Let me turn to my colleague, Larry Seabrook,

          4  from the Bronx.

          5                 Mr. Seabrook.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Thank you

          7  very much, Mr. Chairman. Just a couple of questions,

          8  perhaps you can enlighten me, because just reading

          9  some of the statement that you prepared that you

         10  indicated about this security as it relates to a

         11  sentence here that is unwise even to identify

         12  publicly what companies are providing the equipment,

         13  et cetera; are you saying here that the public does

         14  not have a right to know they're dealing with

         15  Hasbilar (phonetic), Syria (phonetic), those who

         16  have been classified as terrorist groups, that

         17  because of security that people don't have a right

         18  to know?

         19                 MS. SIMPSON: First of all, we're

         20  talking mainly about the purchase of equipment, but

         21  of course the public has a right to be protected

         22  against contracting that would jeopardize their

         23  safety that is indeed the goal of this arrangement,

         24  and I believe the public has a right to assume, and

         25  we have an obligation to ensure that agencies that
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          2  are charged with the protection of the security of

          3  this City are doing so in a responsible manner, and

          4  as indicated in my testimony, in addition to the

          5  first responder agencies themselves, the Police

          6  Department, the Fire Department, the Office of

          7  Emergency Management, there is a role in procurement

          8  for Department of Investigation, the Department of

          9  Investigation is well aware of all of the watch

         10  lists and all of those types of issues.

         11                 None of the oversight mandates are

         12  exempted from this proposal, and to the extent that

         13  the Council is talking about either the oversight

         14  that it wishes to engage in, or that the Comptroller

         15  does or any other independent oversight, that's not

         16  what this is about. This is about whether we have to

         17  publish the details, the specs, if you will, you

         18  know, for what the bomb-diffusing robot is, and

         19  granted, you know, the public's hearing is a

         20  summary, but the question is, how much information

         21  about a piece of equipment, or even what it is -- I

         22  mean, I'm certainly not a technology maven in every

         23  respect, but when you identify what it is --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: It's

         25  publicly the company. It didn't say the equipment,
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          2  it said publicly, i.e., the bin Laden family sells

          3  equipment.

          4                 MS. SIMPSON: I don't think you even

          5  reasonably believe that that's what we're trying to

          6  do here.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: I'm just

          8  saying what it said here.

          9                 MS. SIMPSON: But what I said there is

         10  there are instances where the naming of the company

         11  will tell you more than perhaps you would want a

         12  terrorist to know. There are situations where

         13  perhaps in this day and age we need to get something

         14  on board, or perhaps it's a question of a service,

         15  and a particular company is who we need to procure

         16  it through and there's a question of whether that

         17  becomes a target. Again, the Police Department is in

         18  communication all the time about threat levels, and

         19  some of those threat levels certainly apply to

         20  outside contractors who serve the City in some of

         21  these areas.

         22                 The purpose of this proposal is to

         23  ensure that as the official who is ultimately

         24  responsible for our safety agency, to ensure that we

         25  don't put something in the City Record to announce

                                                            70

          1  CHARTER REVISION AND CONTRACTS

          2  to the terrorist what we're doing in a way that will

          3  jeopardize our ability to protect people. That's

          4  what it's about. It's not about trying -- I mean,

          5  again, the Comptroller registers every contract,

          6  including every contract that we do on an emergency

          7  basis, every contract, the Comptroller is an

          8  independent elected official from the Mayor. The

          9  Comptroller, I don't believe, is going to register a

         10  contract for Isallobar the Charter right now says

         11  that the Comptroller is directed to guard against

         12  corruption and there is an elaborate section of the

         13  Charter, Section 328, that identifies how the

         14  Comptroller's registration task relates to the

         15  Mayor's contracting role. That's a protection that

         16  is extraordinary for the public.

         17                 The Comptroller will see every single

         18  detail. This is about what goes in the City record

         19  so that Isallobar can also see it.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: So, is

         21  organized crime included in that?

         22                 MS. SIMPSON: Yes. I'm sure there are

         23  circumstances where that could be an issue. Yes, no

         24  doubt.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Well, they
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          2  work at the World Trade Center with a contract.

          3                 MS. SIMPSON: I don't think organized

          4  crime had a contract, and I believe if you want --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Organized

          6  crime works.

          7                 MS. SIMPSON: If you would like

          8  additional information I'm happy to supply it. But I

          9  know that we had independent monitors, in effect,

         10  through the Department of Investigation on all of

         11  the work done at the World Trade Center. I'm happy

         12  to supply additional information to the Committee.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Well,

         14  they're the ones that said that they were working

         15  down there. They had a contract. There were five

         16  major contractors.

         17                 MS. SIMPSON: The Department of

         18  Investigation monitors that process very, very

         19  closely, and there were extraordinary protections in

         20  place.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: So, no

         22  organized crime worked there?

         23                 MS. SIMPSON: I'm happy to relay your

         24  question to the Department of Investigation and get

         25  back to you.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Okay, could

          3  you please?

          4                 MS. SIMPSON: Yes.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Also, on the

          6  brief remarks to the Council member and in your

          7  statement, I'm concerned because are you saying that

          8  we as the public are in jeopardy now? Because I

          9  mean, how have you been purchasing these since 9/11

         10  or in the past? I mean, obviously, you know, this

         11  budget proposal hasn't been passed, how have you

         12  been doing that, and are we in jeopardy?

         13                 MS. SIMPSON: I think the further away

         14  we get from the occurrence itself, the more

         15  instances will arise in due course where there is a

         16  question. Initially in the aftermath of 9/11 because

         17  the events of 9/11 themselves were obviously

         18  unforeseen, in the aftermath of 9/11 a significant

         19  amount of procurement was done as emergency

         20  procurement with the truncated process that exists

         21  in the Charter.

         22                 However, now that we're two years

         23  plus from there, it's increasingly difficult to talk

         24  about a procurement to address today's

         25  counter-terrorism needs as being unforeseen. It's

                                                            73

          1  CHARTER REVISION AND CONTRACTS

          2  not only a foreseeable issue, it's one we are

          3  actively planning for. Therefore, it doesn't fall

          4  within the state law provision for emergency and we

          5  need to find something that is more flexible.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: I mean, what

          7  would be concerned, and why didn't the Charter

          8  Revision Commission of the year before address this

          9  issue and bring it to the table. This is the first

         10  time obviously 9/11 happened, you know, before the

         11  last year's Charter Revision Commission.

         12                 But on another subject, are all the

         13  procurement-related amendments to the Charter

         14  proposed by the Commission included in ballot

         15  question number four on the ballot? And the reason

         16  why I ask is, if this is to be approved, there will

         17  be a substantial amount of procurement changes, and

         18  I only see roughly about 50 bullet points here, so

         19  that goes back to the question are the voters

         20  educated in your opinion, and what these questions

         21  will actually do to procurement, and will they be

         22  able to make an educated decision?

         23                 MS. SIMPSON: Well, certainly in my

         24  opinion, as the Director of the Mayor's Office of

         25  Contracts, I believe that the ballot question does
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          2  summarize the proposals that are before the voters,

          3  but more significantly in my opinion the ballot

          4  question itself was drafted with advice from the Law

          5  Department, so I'm confident that the Law Department

          6  gave the Charter Commission advice on how to ensure

          7  that everything in its proposal was encompassed by

          8  that wording.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: But are your sure

         10  that, or do you believe that the Charter Revision

         11  Commission made a concerted effort to actually

         12  educate the voters of the City of New York on what

         13  this would actually do, or is this something that's

         14  trying to slip through the cracks?

         15                 MS. SIMPSON: I don't think it's

         16  trying to slip through the cracks. As Chairman

         17  Jackson indicated in the colloquy a little earlier,

         18  this is a subject matter which is somewhat difficult

         19  to grab the attention of one's closest friends, much

         20  less the general public, but I know that the Charter

         21  Commission is actively out there trying to get the

         22  word out to interested members of the public about

         23  the proposals including the procurement perform

         24  proposal.

         25                 I wouldn't be surprised if it is a
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          2  difficult subject matter to engage on.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: I would beg to

          4  differ on being actively out there because they're

          5  not here today in front of the City Council where

          6  they should be to testify before this City's

          7  legislative body.

          8                 The reason why I stress the process

          9  so much, and I'm going to give everyone, for

         10  everyone's edification, in 2002, the City of New

         11  York in the general elections, 1,414,663 came out to

         12  vote on that day. Out of those people that came out

         13  to vote, it is sad to say that only five percent

         14  actually voted on the ballot question, means that a

         15  couple of things happened. Either the entire voting

         16  populous, 95 percent of the voting population that

         17  did come out to vote did not vote on the question,

         18  because either they were uneducated on the issue at

         19  hand, because the Charter Revision at that time

         20  failed to educate the voters on what was taking

         21  place, or there wasn't enough of a vigorous campaign

         22  done to inform the populous of what was taking

         23  place, and that goes back to the process, the fact

         24  that only three months was given towards informing

         25  the community of what has actually taken place.
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          2                 To give you a number, instead of five

          3  percent, 945,000 people did not vote out of 1.4

          4  million people. Now, when you hear the numbers every

          5  day in the newspapers, that 1 million people are

          6  left out of the process, I have here 1 million

          7  people that were left out because they were

          8  uninformed of what the process was.

          9                 Now, that is exactly why I'm going to

         10  repeat the question. Do you think the Charter

         11  Revision Commission did its job in informing the 8

         12  million people within the City of New York about

         13  what these data proposals, in particular the

         14  procurement issue would do, and what the

         15  ramifications would be. And I wouldn't say they're

         16  active, because they're not here today.

         17                 MS. SIMPSON: I understand that.

         18  Again, I'm seeing it from the lens of someone who

         19  actually finds this to be a fascinating subject, so

         20  it's a little hard, but to the Charter Commission's

         21  credit, they held public meetings and hearings on

         22  this subject throughout the City. I attended or had

         23  staff at every one of those, and there were people

         24  who spoke on this subject, as many people, frankly,

         25  as I've ever seen at a Council hearing testifying on
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          2  procurement either.

          3                 I understand it's not the most, you

          4  know -- it's not readily the object of great public

          5  attention, there was some very thoughtful testimony

          6  that was submitted from many members of the public

          7  and that is reflected in the evolution of what

          8  happened in the Charter report, and I can only say

          9  that both from my perspective as having overseeing

         10  the procurement area for the last several months,

         11  but as you'll also see in the Charter report, it

         12  credits my involvement with the Commission.

         13                 So, again, we tried, while certainly

         14  there is evidence as the proposals evolve from

         15  meeting to meeting that there were listening to the

         16  input that they receive from the public on

         17  procurement.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Just from the

         19  public's edification, in the Borough of the Bronx,

         20  for instance, when we had our Charter Revision

         21  Committee hearing, we had about 20 people in the

         22  audience and 19 of them took a bus in the

         23  independence party into the Charter Revision

         24  Commission, so I wouldn't say that that was really a

         25  public hearing, but sort of prejudgment or
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          2  preapproval for the Commission to just have it easy.

          3                 MS. SIMPSON: There were other

          4  hearings where a significant number of people came

          5  and talked about procurement. It happened. You know,

          6  I'm not going to pretend that procurement was up

          7  there on, you know, the hit parade with everybody,

          8  but procurement was a significant issue, and the

          9  Charter Commission did a significant amount of

         10  outreach to generate interest in those hearings by

         11  people who follow procurement.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: All right, thank

         13  you very much.

         14                 We've also been joined by Council

         15  Member David Yassky, and Council Member Gale Brewer,

         16  and I believe David has a question to ask.

         17                 As a matter of fact, we'll start off

         18  with Yvette Clarke.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you, Mr.

         20  Chair.

         21                 Just bear in mind that Council Member

         22  Yassky is co-chair of the hearing in the next room,

         23  with Parks and Waterfronts, so he's running between.

         24                 Good afternoon, Ms. Simpson. How are

         25  you?

                                                            79

          1  CHARTER REVISION AND CONTRACTS

          2                 I have a question about page six

          3  where we talk about one last but significant Charter

          4  Reform proposal is the incorporation of a legal

          5  mandate for Citywide coordination of efforts to

          6  expand opportunities for businesses that are women

          7  and/or minorities and that's locally-based

          8  businesses and other small businesses to participate

          9  as vendors for the City increasing their economic

         10  viability and further competition in procurement,

         11  and I was wondering two things, one, what does this

         12  legal mandate consist of that is going to be out for

         13  a Citywide coordination of efforts and why is that

         14  necessary to be in a referendum as opposed to the

         15  legislative process?

         16                 And then, finally, what is your

         17  official position on this?

         18                 MS. SIMPSON: Let me take the first

         19  two, and then I have a question.

         20                 The proposal is to require through

         21  the Charter for the Mayor to exercise Citywide

         22  coordination of efforts to expand business

         23  opportunity in these areas.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Not to

         25  interrupt you, that's what I'm not clear on. Have
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          2  there been any fleshing out of how that would occur?

          3  Because under the last administration, had we had a

          4  referendum like that put on, we know what the choice

          5  of that Mayor would have been in this area, so I

          6  want to know, has that been fleshed out any further

          7  beyond giving the Mayor the ultimate power to

          8  coordinate the efforts among agencies.

          9                 MS. SIMPSON: We think that putting

         10  that in the Charter does signal a Citywide

         11  commitment. As I think as a member of the Contracts

         12  Committee, you're aware, and I believe we've talked

         13  in previous hearings, there are some tricky legal

         14  issues about how we expand the MBE/WBE program in

         15  the City, and Commissioner Walsh and I testified

         16  together at what I think was a joint hearing of the

         17  Economic Development and Contracts Committee, and we

         18  are committed to a lot of outrage activities we can

         19  engage in now under current law and we're committed

         20  to better monitoring the data which is changed and

         21  to cooperating with the disparity study that the

         22  Council has funded in this area.

         23                 I believe we have gone in sort of

         24  thinking about these proposals as far as we can go

         25  with currently, though, constraints from the Supreme
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          2  Court. It is still worthwhile to put this into the

          3  Charter as a principle that we aspire to and that we

          4  hold the Mayor accountable to, and I would have to

          5  ask the Law Department, but I believe the reason why

          6  it has to be done through the Charter is in order to

          7  obtain that accountability for the Mayor. But I'm

          8  happy to ask the Law Department in particular

          9  whether that aspect was required because I don't

         10  know.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: The way that

         12  this is worded right now, it seems to me that the

         13  power given to the Mayor gives the Mayor the power

         14  to coordinate or not coordinate efforts. You know

         15  what I'm saying? It's very ambiguous. It doesn't say

         16  he must coordinate these efforts, it simply says,

         17  okay, now you have the power to do it, and then it

         18  leads up to the discretion of the Mayor whether

         19  that's something they necessarily want to take on or

         20  not. There's no compelling element here, and that's

         21  why's scary about this, because we have a Mayor that

         22  was not compelled to do that at all in the last

         23  Administration. So, why would we bring this to the

         24  citizens as a measure supposedly doing something on

         25  behalf of women and minority-owned business, when it
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          2  leaves the prerogative still up to the individual in

          3  the seat. It doesn't say as a Charter this is what

          4  we're doing a City, it's saying, hey, whoever is in

          5  there, however you feel, whichever way the wind

          6  blows, you can do this if you want to.

          7                 MS. SIMPSON: Well, as you know, Mayor

          8  Bloomberg issued Executive Order 36, which does

          9  mandate that the agencies in this Administration

         10  take this effort very, very seriously and we are

         11  well underway trying to implement Executive Order

         12  36, which is binding on the City until someone says

         13  it's not. I think that the effort here was to put a

         14  version of that mandate into the Charter. I think

         15  you would have an argument, certainly, if a Mayor

         16  ceased coordinating this initiative that the mandate

         17  to coordinate efforts had been abandoned.

         18                 I'm not going to hypothesize on what

         19  the legal consequences would be, but I do believe

         20  the effort by the Law Department here, which was in

         21  response to, among other things, testimony that, you

         22  know, that has come up not only at the Charter, but

         23  certainly at efforts that the Council and others

         24  have made in the MBE/WBE arena. I believe the effort

         25  here was to put in place a principle that would bind
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          2  the City to have a Citywide coordinated effort on

          3  this point. I believe that to go further legally

          4  would be problematic under existing Supreme Court

          5  cases, so we are trying to go as far as we felt we

          6  could.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: With all due

          8  respect, Marla, it still leaves it up to the

          9  discretion of the Mayor, and our last Mayor got rid

         10  of an executive order and did coordinate City

         11  activities around LWBEs. His coordination was to

         12  have agencies simply not collect the information.

         13  That's a coordinated effort. Do you understand what

         14  I'm getting at here? I understand the emphasis from

         15  this Administration's standpoint, but when we're

         16  dealing with the Charter, we're talking about the

         17  constitution for the City that lives beyond us in

         18  this generation.

         19                 I think we need to take this a lot

         20  more seriously, and if the Law Department can't come

         21  up with something stronger than this, then why are

         22  we even bothering? A good faith effort is a good

         23  faith effort. We have an Executive Order, let's work

         24  with that, see what the disparity study has to say,

         25  do something real and meaningful for the people of
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          2  New York, but I don't want to leave it up to the

          3  next Administration and say, oh, coordinate efforts

          4  on behalf of women and minority-owned businesses.

          5  Well, this is my interpretation of that and this is

          6  what I'm going to do. It doesn't make any sense, and

          7  I'd rather not tamper with something that's been

          8  really tampered with and has set a lot of

          9  communities back throughout this City because one

         10  particular Administration decided this is not a

         11  priority for me, and this is something I'm not going

         12  to be bothered with.

         13                 MS. SIMPSON: Well, as you know,

         14  Council member, I'm obviously here to speak on

         15  behalf of what this Administration is trying to do

         16  in this area and I think, as you know, we're trying

         17  to work closely with you as our partner in

         18  addressing this more thoroughly and more

         19  comprehensively.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Well, thank you.

         21  I'd like to introduce Chair Addabbo. Mr. Addabbo is

         22  a member of the Contracts Committee, to my extreme

         23  left. He just finished chairing the Parks Committee.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: It's still

         25  going on.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: It's still going

          3  on, so we're between.

          4                 But I appreciate that you're trying

          5  to work with us, you know, the City Council, and

          6  more specifically, the Contracts Committee, and that

          7  leads to my next question.

          8                 And at the May 12th, 2003 meeting of

          9  the Charter Revision Commission, you testified that

         10  "not every problem, nor even every crisis in

         11  procurement can be or should be solved by Charter

         12  reform on new legislation. Some of the most critical

         13  issues we face boil down simply to a need for

         14  smarter, more effective management."

         15                 Given that you now seem to support

         16  the proposals to amend the Charter put forward by

         17  the Charter Revision Commission, it is difficult to

         18  understand what you meant by your May 12th, 2002

         19  statement. Maybe you can explain that.

         20                 And especially knowing what you just

         21  said before I asked that question, that you are

         22  working with us and, you know, as the Chair of the

         23  Contracts Committee I've been trying to work with

         24  this Administration since I came in as the Chair of

         25  the Contracts Committee to move forward on trying to
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          2  have procurement reform.

          3                 So, if you could explain that I would

          4  appreciate hearing your response.

          5                 MS. SIMPSON: Certainly, Mr. Chairman.

          6  Just give me one second to find the right section

          7  number reference.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

          9                 MS. SIMPSON: Well, it's covered in a

         10  couple of places in the Charter proposal, but

         11  specifically if you look at Section 9 of the

         12  Charter, the actual text of the Charter proposal 9

         13  and 10, as I testified a few months earlier in my

         14  testimony, the central element of what the Charter

         15  proposal tries to do is it removes detail on the

         16  methodology of procurement from the Charter.

         17                 Much of that methodology is already a

         18  creature of state law, but to the extent that there

         19  is opportunity for innovation and flexibility, the

         20  Charter proposal moves the policy-making and the

         21  detail of the regulation out of the Charter and into

         22  the PPB's rules. So, in effect, the outcome through

         23  the Charter of simplification was achieved mainly by

         24  those provisions.

         25                 Additional prescriptive or
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          2  postscriptive elements were put into the Charter

          3  proposals, largely in response to public testimony

          4  that favored certain additional mandates, but the

          5  central theme of what the Charter Commission did

          6  remains the simplification of Chapter 13 and the

          7  decision to allow the PPB to set the framework for

          8  all of those state-mandated procurement methodology.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay, now, the

         10  proposals that have been put forward by the Charter

         11  Commission, were those recommended by you or your

         12  office? Because I understand that you had a

         13  relationship to the Charter Commission; is that

         14  correct?

         15                 MS. SIMPSON: That is correct. I

         16  served as an advisor to the Charter Commission.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And did you or

         18  did your office forward all of the proposals that

         19  have been put forward by the Charter Commission?

         20                 MS. SIMPSON: No.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Now, according

         22  to the Charter Revision Commission's proposal, the

         23  only change in emergency contract for

         24  security-related goods would eliminate public

         25  hearings and publication of the purchase in the City
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          2  Record.

          3                 MS. SIMPSON: The public notice and

          4  public hearing, correct.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So, now, in your

          6  opinion, does that mean that the City Council -- I

          7  mean, because in your testimony refers to that, you

          8  know, besides you said the Law Department and --

          9                 MS. SIMPSON: DOI, the Comptroller.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And all of those

         11  I believe are mayoral appointees; is that correct?

         12  Department of Law?

         13                 MS. SIMPSON: Not the Comptroller.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Besides the

         15  Comptroller; is that correct?

         16                 MS. SIMPSON: It's a big besides, yes.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: But aren't we,

         18  meaning the City Council, full partners in the

         19  process, as far as procurement and oversight? I

         20  mean, why were we left out of the picture? If you

         21  have an answer to that. And if you don't, it's okay.

         22                 MS. SIMPSON: I don't believe the City

         23  Council was left out of the picture at all. Let me,

         24  again, I'm sure that there is no reason why an

         25  oversight mechanism can't be discussed and worked
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          2  out.

          3                 Again, the City Council presumably

          4  does not get all of its information on the

          5  procurement process from the notices that are in the

          6  City Record. The City Council has access to us and

          7  to the budget process and to lots of other oversight

          8  points for procurement. If what the Committee would

          9  want to do would be to have a discussion with the

         10  Law Department and perhaps with the Public Safety

         11  agencies about how oversight would be accomplished

         12  once the Charter provision takes effect, I'm sure

         13  that is a big discussion that we would have.

         14                 The intention is to keep dangerous

         15  information out of the City Record, that's the whole

         16  point of it. Other consequences can be discussed by

         17  partners in government. I'm sure there's a way to

         18  resolve them.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Now, did you

         20  attend the Charter Commission's hearings where any

         21  of these matters is more specifically, your security

         22  word, discussed by the Commissioners or staff?

         23  Because we can't find anything in the transcript or

         24  the record of a discussion of these particular

         25  matters occurred. So, do you know if in fact these
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          2  types of discussions we're having now were discussed

          3  by the Commissioners or by the staff, and can you

          4  point to any record where we can review that?

          5                 MS. SIMPSON: I'm not sure that I

          6  totally understand the question.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Let me just try

          8  to rephrase it so you can try to understand it.

          9                 MS. SIMPSON: Okay.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Were you at any

         11  meetings of the Commission where the issues of

         12  questioning concerning the security-sensitive

         13  material where the Mayor will have total control

         14  over the process? Can you point to anywhere where we

         15  can look at the record where that was flushed out at

         16  all by the Commissioner?

         17                 MS. SIMPSON: I'm sure that your staff

         18  was thorough in its review of the record, and, so,

         19  I'm confident that the reference that your staff

         20  provided is accurate.

         21                 I don't think it's a secret, this, I

         22  believe, you know, you can also probably tell from

         23  Commissioner Kelly's letter that was submitted to

         24  you today, this is a concern that came from the

         25  Public Safety agencies that are grappling with these
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          2  issues every day and they brought it to the

          3  attention of the Charter Commission I believe

          4  through the Law Department, which, again, has to

          5  look at all of these under the current Charter as a

          6  matter of form.

          7                 I don't believe that the

          8  Commissioners, at least in my presence, did not view

          9  this as unduly broad or unduly controversial in

         10  terms of their discussions, and, therefore, if what

         11  you're saying is you don't see a dialogue between

         12  Commissioners on the record, I'm sure that that's

         13  accurate, but certainly at the meetings that I was

         14  present it seemed obvious to me that there was an

         15  understanding by all concerned as to what this was

         16  referring to.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Was that based

         18  on the lack of questions, of anyone questioning

         19  that? Or was it based on the questions that were

         20  asked? Because the record is void of any questions,

         21  any comments about this, so I'm just trying to

         22  understand how do you get that conclusion? Was it

         23  based on documentation submitted, or was it based on

         24  no one asking any questions?

         25                 MS. SIMPSON: Well, as often happens,
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          2  you know, in discussions with the Committee, and

          3  your staff, when we come together for meetings or

          4  hearings, there are discussions that occur on the

          5  record, and there are discussions that are informal.

          6                 I believe that the Commissioners had

          7  a thorough understanding of what this was, and a

          8  thorough understanding of why it was being proposed.

          9                 The Commissioners felt free at all

         10  points, including, as I think you will see on the

         11  record there are instances where the Commissioners

         12  asked either me or a representative of the

         13  Comptroller to explain things from the audit. If

         14  they had a question about something that was in

         15  front of them, they looked in the audience to see if

         16  any of the people in City government who were

         17  administering this issue could help them, and,

         18  obviously, if we were there, we helped them.

         19                 So, if they had had a question on

         20  this, I have no doubt that they could have gotten it

         21  answered. Again, my informal appraisal of having

         22  been there was that they knew what this was and that

         23  they did not have a question about it.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Well, let me

         25  just say this to you, I wish that I was asking these
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          2  questions of the Chairman or the General Counsel of

          3  the Commission or the Executive Director of the

          4  Commission, but I guess they saw fit not to come or

          5  to answer questions. Quite frankly, I would love to

          6  ask them directly of them, and maybe when I see them

          7  informally on the streets, maybe I'll pull out my

          8  questions and ask them then. Maybe I might get a

          9  question and answer off the record, maybe.

         10                 But I'm going to turn to my colleague

         11  Gale Brewer, who has a question. Gale Brewer of

         12  Manhattan.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you.

         14                 Thank you, Marla, for your efforts on

         15  the technology front. I have a question about

         16  Vendex, but just a statement. I know you talked a

         17  little bit, and I'm sorry, I was next door at Parks,

         18  so I've only read it, when you talked about the IRS

         19  and the 990 form, now guide star had some bulk --

         20                 MS. SIMPSON: That data is not in real

         21  time, and it's scanned. I mean, it doesn't flow.

         22  It's not data, it's a picture.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I know it's a

         24  picture and I know you can't search, which is the

         25  other issue.

                                                            94

          1  CHARTER REVISION AND CONTRACTS

          2                 MS. SIMPSON: Right.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: But the point

          4  of the matter is that they were able to work out the

          5  confidentiality issues in terms of 990.

          6                 MS. SIMPSON: Because they don't

          7  provide it. We have to have a system that provides

          8  -- you understand that IRS doesn't give it to them.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Right.

         10                 MS. SIMPSON: Which is why they don't

         11  have to give it out.

         12                 I have to create a system that both

         13  makes it available to the public and obtains the

         14  confidential information for the City.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: No, I

         16  understand.

         17                 MS. SIMPSON: That has to be a

         18  seamless transfer, and that's a very. This is a

         19  project that I worked on in my prior life as a State

         20  charities regulator, and as a state charities

         21  regulator, you know, we had not yet been able to get

         22  the technology. Again, the goal in New York is to

         23  piggyback the federal effort. I've lost track of

         24  their timetable, but I believe the federal effort

         25  and the feds have been working on this for ten
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          2  years. The feds believe they will have working

          3  technology by the end of 2004, and the goal of the

          4  State of New York is to have that technology by the

          5  end of 2005. My hope here as the City is that we can

          6  piggy-back the timetable of the state.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

          8                 MS. SIMPSON: But that's the problem.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: No, I

         10  understand.

         11                 MS. SIMPSON: It doesn't do us much

         12  good.

         13                 I mean, we could create something

         14  that was a PDF format or an e-mail, and all that

         15  that would do is that it would make electronic

         16  filing, it would shift the burden of who prints it.

         17  I would still have to print it out in our office and

         18  give it to a clerical worker to type in.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Right.

         20                 MS. SIMPSON: In order for it to

         21  really be electronic filing, it's got to go as data,

         22  not as a picture, and no one has a system that does

         23  that yet anywhere.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: No, I

         25  understand. I just want to be clear that it was sort
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          2  of the format that Guide Star has.

          3                 MS. SIMPSON: It's like apples and

          4  oranges. It's not a format I can adapt.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. I

          6  understand what you're saying.

          7                 The other question was, along with

          8  what Robert Jackson was talking about, the fact of

          9  the matter is that if we had a conversation, this is

         10  just previous to the ballot proposition where you

         11  said to the City Council we have some security

         12  concerns, what I'm wondering is, Congress obviously

         13  has security concerns, David Yassky is not here,

         14  he's next door, he worked in Congress for a long

         15  time, where in Congress the members of the

         16  legislature who are on the security committee have

         17  certain restrictions on what they can or cannot say,

         18  and that's how they handle it, and I'm just

         19  wondering, was that kind of issue considered before

         20  it was put on the ballot?

         21                 Obviously we are living in different

         22  times than previously.

         23                 I can't speak for what discussions

         24  the Police Department or the Law Department has had.

         25  I don't know. Obviously I heard this concern, and I
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          2  am suggesting that that's something that we have a

          3  discussion about when the subject becomes right.

          4                 The question really that was put to

          5  the Charter Commission was does it make sense to put

          6  this stuff in the City Record? No one was trying to

          7  make a broader argument about eliminating oversight

          8  of this material, and indeed the environment was

          9  such, and, again, the Commissioners were very well

         10  aware of the role of the Comptroller, because among

         11  other things, former First Deputy Comptroller was a

         12  Commissioner. So, I think there was a belief that

         13  oversight could be addressed separately from the

         14  question of what goes in the City Record.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

         16                 And then maybe you discussed this

         17  earlier, but how would Vendex be impacted by these

         18  new security concerns?

         19                 Obviously, information would not be

         20  put on Vendex, if it's not on any other kinds of

         21  public record, is that a fact?

         22                 MS. SIMPSON: I'm assuming that if,

         23  you know, there were a situation where, once we

         24  create a working electronic submission format, it

         25  will have defaults for confidentiality, but I assume
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          2  that you'll be able to alter those when the law

          3  allows.

          4                 So, you could make something

          5  confidential for only certain purposes. There's no

          6  reason why you couldn't. You know, better than I do

          7  Gale, how flexible current technology is, and if we

          8  had a system, you know, the great thing about Vendex

          9  is that it's state-of-the-art from 1989. But I'm not

         10  using any computers that I had in 1989, and I don't

         11  think you are either, and so I'm looking for some

         12  format in technology that's at least closer to the

         13  21st century, and once we have that, then we can do

         14  things that would allow filters for different

         15  information to operate differently, and would allow

         16  most importantly, the public to get the public

         17  information in real time.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I'm just

         19  asking both in the context of electronics and also

         20  in the electronics of if this ballot proposition

         21  passes then, you know, there are lots of places

         22  where I guess it could be considered a challenge in

         23  terms of information sharing, and of course I hope

         24  it doesn't pass, so this will not be an issue.

         25                 Thank you very much.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Finally, I'm

          3  curious to know, as the Director of the Mayor's

          4  Office of Contracts, it is my belief as the Chair of

          5  the Contracts Committee that many of the items that

          6  were recommended as far as procurement by the

          7  Charter Commission could rightfully be done through

          8  the legislative process. And I wanted to ask your

          9  opinion, do you share that same conclusion? And if

         10  not, which specific items do you believe would not

         11  fall under that umbrella?

         12                 MS. SIMPSON: Well, this is a memory

         13  test. No, we don't share that conclusion, we have

         14  been advised by the Law Department that many of the

         15  proposals that are part of the Charter proposal, as

         16  well as many proposals that are part of the

         17  Council's package can only be done through

         18  referendum.

         19                 In fact, looking for the number,

         20  there is a proposal in the Council's package which

         21  mirrors a proposal that is in this Charter Revision

         22  package, I think exactly. However, the Law

         23  Department has advised that it would not be

         24  permissible to do it through legislation. It is only

         25  permissible to do it through the referendum process.
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          2                 So, I think in general, again, I

          3  haven't asked the Law Department about every

          4  element. I know when Council Member Clarke was

          5  speaking, I realized I had not asked about the MBE

          6  provision, but I believe generally speaking the Law

          7  Department has analyzed most of these proposals and

          8  concluded that we could not accomplish them by

          9  legislation only.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Now, the Law

         11  Department is an agency of the Mayor and that's

         12  their opinion. I think that we had our attorneys

         13  look at this and their opinion is that we can, so

         14  there's a difference of opinion I would assume then.

         15                 MS. SIMPSON: Well, I recognize that

         16  there may be a difference of opinion. I am obviously

         17  -- the Law Department under the Charter of the City

         18  of New York is counsel to the City and it is the Law

         19  Department that we must turn to for defense if any

         20  of these proposals were ever to be challenged.

         21                 So, when we try and develop a reform

         22  strategy, we try and do so in the manner that will

         23  protect the City from the challenge, and therefore,

         24  we are advised that there are certain kinds of

         25  reforms that we're only permitted to do through
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          2  referendum, we're not permitted to do through

          3  legislation.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Would you agree,

          5  though, that if in fact there were proposals that

          6  could be done through the legislative process,

          7  rather than referendum, then that is the avenue of

          8  choice that the City should take?

          9                 MS. SIMPSON: I'll really leave that

         10  to other people. My goal is to try and reform

         11  procurement in the ways that I spoke to in my

         12  testimony. I'll leave it to others to determine

         13  whether there are better or worse routes. But

         14  certainly the routes that we've chosen here, based

         15  on legal advise, are roots that we think we can

         16  succeed on and that we think make sense. But you

         17  know, obviously, as you pointed out there is room

         18  for a difference of opinion.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay. Well, I

         20  appreciate you leaving that up to other people, but

         21  I think clearly your whole testimony, it seemed as

         22  though that you had an opinion on everything else,

         23  but I'll just take it as it is.

         24                 So, I appreciate the opportunity of

         25  you coming in and giving testimony, and our staff
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          2  will take many of the stuff that you put in the

          3  record and your opinions that you've expressed,

          4  based on your knowledge and information, we'll take

          5  that into consideration. So, I want to thank you for

          6  coming in. I appreciate it.

          7                 MS. SIMPSON: You're welcome.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

          9  much, Commissioner.

         10                 At this point in time I'd like to

         11  bring up Susan Stetzer and I'd like to thank you for

         12  your patience.

         13                 Yes, our Counsel will now swear you

         14  in.

         15                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Please raise

         16  your right hand.

         17                 Do you swear and affirm that the

         18  testimony you're about to provide before this

         19  Committee is the truth and that you'll answer all

         20  the questions truthfully?

         21                 MS. STETZER: I do.

         22                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Thank you.

         23                 MS. STETZER: Thank you for this

         24  opportunity to testify. My name is Susan Stetzer,

         25  and I'm giving testimony for Coalition for a
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          2  District Alternative, CoDA, a Lower East Side

          3  political organization.

          4                 We have organized and participated in

          5  many political campaigns, including issue campaigns.

          6  We are in touch with the voters in our community,

          7  and we are prime voters ourselves. It is from this

          8  perspective I would like to make two points today.

          9                 The first is that the current Charter

         10  Revision process is faulty. The second is that

         11  question for City purchasing is not appropriate as a

         12  ballot question, and we do not have proper

         13  information regarding this proposal.

         14                 It is disappointing that Mayor

         15  Bloomberg is continuing Giuliani's tactics, pushing

         16  through last-minute summer Charter commissions. The

         17  hearing started in July for a November election on

         18  very technical issues that need thorough study and

         19  debate.

         20                 Public hearings were held only in the

         21  summer when many people were on vacation. Only three

         22  minutes of testimony were allowed for all the

         23  important issues. There was no pro and con debate.

         24                 I became aware of the existence of

         25  question four when I was researching to testify in
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          2  question three for the August public hearing. I

          3  cannot determine when this proposal was raised or

          4  why we are voting on this proposal, instead of

          5  having a City Council vote.

          6                 People who follow politics closely

          7  know about the nonpartisan election proposal. I have

          8  read that about 15 percent of eligible voters follow

          9  these kinds of political issues. However, even among

         10  this 15 percent, how many people know about

         11  questions four or five?

         12                 I searched the transcripts of the two

         13  posted public hearings in Manhattan. The first on

         14  July 24th, there were two speakers on question four.

         15  Testimony was given for Comptroller Thompson and a

         16  second speaker, who is a former auditor in the

         17  Department of Finance.

         18                 There were over 40 speakers but only

         19  two testified on this issue.

         20                 At the Manhattan hearing on August

         21  19th, there were only six speakers on question four.

         22  They were all people of specific experience and

         23  knowledge regarding this issue. So what information

         24  has been put out regarding this question? There is

         25  nothing on the Board of Elections website as of
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          2  yesterday. The questions are not even listed. The

          3  Campaign Finance website has nothing on these

          4  questions.

          5                 I looked up League of Women Voters,

          6  they only have information on nonpartisan questions.

          7  I've looked up several good government group

          8  websites, including those that deal with budget

          9  issues, nothing on this question. I searched the New

         10  York Times for the past three months. There are only

         11  two articles and one letter on this ballot question,

         12  and I guess by their absence today, we can't expect

         13  to see more.

         14                 Until this year, Charter Commission

         15  meetings and hearings were televised on Channel 74.

         16  One can hear testimony from all the hearings and

         17  public meetings. I don't believe they were televised

         18  this year, I was never able to find them, and I read

         19  just today that the Mayor has again revamped New

         20  York City television with the result of even less

         21  time that's being given to public meetings and

         22  hearings.

         23                 In the past the Campaign Finance

         24  Board gave the public the opportunity to comment pro

         25  or con on ballot issues for the Voter Guide. I did
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          2  not receive a request for comment this year, even

          3  though I testified at the Commission hearing.

          4                 There's a shroud of secrecy and a

          5  total lack of information regarding this question.

          6  It is particularly ironic that the Mayor expresses

          7  concern that people are elected and issues decided

          8  by a very small percentage of voters and low turnout

          9  elections.

         10                 I read the Mayor had to make a

         11  decision whether to put these proposals on the

         12  ballot this year when the turnout would be very low,

         13  or whether to wait until the presidential election

         14  with a high turnout. We know the answer to his

         15  decision.

         16                 I have read the abstract for question

         17  four. I can't say there is enough information, but

         18  what I can't understand is scary. It seems to be

         19  wiping out checks and balances between the

         20  Administration and the City Council. One point calls

         21  for elimination and review on workplace employment

         22  issues.

         23                 Does this mean eliminating safeguards

         24  of workers rights, and why isn't this statement

         25  included on the ballot? What detail requirements are
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          2  being removed? What procedures are being reduced for

          3  security-related contracts.

          4                 This all sounds like streamlining, a

          5  code word for eliminating input from the public and

          6  from elected representatives.

          7                 This all needs to be clarified. The

          8  abstract does not read like an abstract, it reads

          9  like a bias attempt to influence the reader.

         10                 Question four is an attempt to sneak

         11  through a proposal that should be dealt with as

         12  legislation by elected representatives. This is

         13  being done in a low turnout election where it will

         14  not be noticed.

         15                 I challenge Mayor Bloomberg to go out

         16  in the street and ask ten people to explain their

         17  views and question four. Better yet, ask people to

         18  read proposal four and explain what it means.

         19                 If the plan is to release information

         20  shortly before the election, we will not have an

         21  informed electorate for this complicated technical

         22  issue. This proposal is an attempt to take power

         23  away from the voters by taking it away from our

         24  elected representatives, and the Mayor is doing so

         25  by trying to control the process in a low voter
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          2  turnout election, exactly as he accuses party bosses

          3  of doing in primary elections.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

          5  much.

          6                 Are there any questions from the

          7  Committee members?

          8                 Thank you very much, Susan.

          9                 Next we will hear from James

         10  Heyligier from Association of Minority Business

         11  Enterprises, as well as Marjorie Shea from the

         12  Women's City Club of New York, as well as Colleen

         13  Molter, the National Association of Women Business

         14  Owners.

         15                 Can we have the Sergeant-At-Arms put

         16  another chair at the table, and possibly another

         17  microphone.

         18                 Okay, I'll have Counsel swear you in,

         19  and you can proceed with your testimony.

         20                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Please raise

         21  your right hand.

         22                 If you can all raise your right hand.

         23  Thank you.

         24                 Do you swear or affirm that the

         25  testimony you're about to provide and the questions
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          2  you're about to answer before the Council will be

          3  the truth?

          4                 MS. MOLTER: Yes.

          5                 MS. SHEA: Yes.

          6                 MR. HEYLIGIER: Yes.

          7                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Okay, whoever

          9  wants to proceed first can. I normally say ladies

         10  first, so...

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Press the

         12  button, please.

         13                 MS. SHEA: I'm Marjorie Shea, with

         14  Women's City Club of New York.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Marjorie, can

         16  you pull your mic up a little bit closer, so that

         17  everyone in the room can hear you?

         18                 MS. SHEA: Sure. Okay, is that good?

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: A lot better.

         20                 MS. SHEA: Okay. The Women's City Club

         21  of New York has an organization that goes way back

         22  to the beginning of the last century in terms of

         23  getting suffrage for women, and so we're

         24  particularly concerned about what the voters know

         25  about this and we're concerned about the Minority
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          2  and Women-Owned jobs and businesses and employment.

          3                 Women's City Club has not taken a

          4  position on ballot proposal four, although we have

          5  on three. Ballot proposal four, as you know, has

          6  gotten overshadowed by the nonpartisan election

          7  issue, but I do want to say that in hearing today,

          8  I've gotten some information, my point to come in

          9  today was to get some information. I have, like

         10  Council Member Jackson, I have some questions.

         11                 Number one, how does the Charter

         12  Commission change to Citywide -- this is their

         13  wording. It comes from the absentee ballot, which,

         14  by the way, the absentee ballots are in the hands of

         15  the voters right now. There are thousands of them

         16  out there. We've gotten calls, people want to know

         17  what this is about. We're not going to get to them

         18  on time. Hopefully we'll get to them before November

         19  4th.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Yes, my daughter

         21  called me from Buffalo. She received hers and she

         22  asked questions.

         23                 MS. SHEA: Could you answer them?

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: I told her yes.

         25                 MS. SHEA: But the ballot question
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          2  says Citywide coordination to enhance opportunities

          3  for small businesses and minority and woman-owned

          4  businesses. Sounds good, but a quick search of the

          5  over 390 pages of the final report of the Charter

          6  Commission, I found little specific information on

          7  this.

          8                 Second question, will revisions to

          9  the employment report requirement affect the hiring

         10  of women and minorities?

         11                 As it stands now, as you know,

         12  contractors and subcontractors competing for

         13  contracts above a certain monetary value must submit

         14  employment reports. If the Charter Commission

         15  proposal would allow the Commissioner of Small

         16  Business Services, flexibility, and I quote, to

         17  provide exemptions to these employment reports,

         18  that's a little bit worrisome.

         19                 Number three: How might reduced

         20  requirements for security-related contracts affect

         21  minority and women business enterprises, and that's

         22  been discussed here at great length, for why is this

         23  a topic for voter referendum? Can't the City Council

         24  and the Mayor make these changes to procurement

         25  procedures? The changes are somewhat technical in
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          2  nature, but I would caution you that we do not want

          3  to become a state like California where my minor

          4  issues bypass the legislature and may go to the

          5  voters. We do not want government by referendum. So,

          6  we hope that this hearing today is the beginning of

          7  getting the word out to the public.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you. Next.

          9                 MR. HEYLIGIER: My name is James

         10  Heyligier. I'm the President of the Association of

         11  Minority Enterprises of New York, 27-year-old trade

         12  association. This afternoon I'm also representing

         13  the Minority Business Leadership Council of New York

         14  City, which consists of 15 trade association

         15  primarily minority women-owned businesses.

         16                 Our concern today is that a review of

         17  some of the information that comes to us, whether it

         18  be to a hearing, news media, or correspondence, it

         19  would appear as though the testimony which I just

         20  witnessed is being used to bypass the City Council's

         21  plans to improve a level playing field as it relates

         22  to procurement.

         23                 I might add that in reference to a

         24  question raised by Councilman Seabrook of a $9

         25  billion procurement budget, whether you take 6
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          2  billion away from it or not, African-American- and

          3  Hispanic-owned businesses receive less than one

          4  percent of that procurement dollar.

          5                 In addition, the so-called one-year

          6  emergency that the New York City Department of

          7  Building and Design declared for 9/11, it should be

          8  noted that there were exactly three major

          9  contractors who had been indicted and convicted,

         10  working on that project, and received over $90

         11  million, of which 43 million was paid of their fines

         12  for conviction of MBE fraud which was reported in

         13  Newsday.  I don't see how the Mayor's Office claims

         14  they don't understand it. And out of that $600

         15  million spent at 9/11, not a single penny went to a

         16  minority or women-owned business.

         17                 So, we have some major concerns when

         18  the Charter and the Mayor comes up with such things

         19  as failure, the will to be able to not have public

         20  notification as it relates to hearings and the

         21  nature of contracts. It would seem to me that we

         22  look at Atlanta, Seattle, Chicago, Cleveland,

         23  Detroit and Baltimore, how it is that their Law

         24  Departments do not have a problem with issues

         25  relevant to minority and women-owned business, when
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          2  our Law Department seems to have a problem what we

          3  already know the City Council is planning. It begins

          4  to raise an issue of who are these people working in

          5  the Law Department from whence that they came.

          6                 It would also appear to me that if

          7  you move away from public notification hearings, and

          8  you give a Commissioner -- I would like to thank

          9  your policy analysis (sic) Sarah Seidman for

         10  correspondence that we received raising some issues

         11  because this was how we was alerted as to what was

         12  really going on, because the Charter Commission,

         13  either it has failed the tests of public relations,

         14  or is unaware of the target population that it is

         15  supposed to be approaching, since we were unable to

         16  attend any of those informational briefings, nor had

         17  we been notified, and it would seem to me that every

         18  time there's a major issue relevant to labor and

         19  contracts. AGC and all of the unions get ample

         20  notification and are called in for a pre-hearing

         21  discussions, wherein major trade association which

         22  represents 70 percent of a business community of

         23  minority and women-owned businesses is never called

         24  in for a prebriefing before these things are put

         25  forward, because that's an issue that seriously
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          2  concerns us.

          3                 Under the guise of tourism it's quite

          4  clear that our rights are being pushed back. Even

          5  the latest referendum which talked about all you

          6  need to do is to be wealthy or a star and you can

          7  win in the election without paying your dues by

          8  joining an organization, or do like the working

          9  prior did, if you don't like any of the parties, you

         10  put together your own party and you create it and

         11  establish yourself. That to me is democracy, not a

         12  question of dollars and stardom.

         13                 I would hope that there's a method in

         14  which the City Council can vendor off this issue of

         15  how they handle procurement, because if you look at

         16  the Board of Education, and you look at where 90

         17  percent of a procurement goes to, and if you look

         18  without notification of who gets vendor licenses in

         19  the City, you will see that there is a hidden

         20  monopoly on where those contracts go. And if you

         21  allow the so-called Charter revision to eliminate

         22  hearings in those locations, there will be a small,

         23  elite monopoly that will handle all procurement in

         24  this City. Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very
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          2  much. Next.

          3                 MS. MOLTER: Well, good afternoon,

          4  members of the Council, and other attendees here. My

          5  name is Colleen Molter, and I am the President and

          6  Owner of QED National, a New York certified women

          7  business enterprise specializing in information

          8  technology consulting for the government, as well as

          9  financial services.

         10                 I'm here today in my capacity as the

         11  Chair of Public Policy for the New York City Chapter

         12  of the National Association of Women Business

         13  Owners, which is often referred to as NAWBO New York

         14  City. I have another distinguished member of the

         15  association with me here today, her name is Lynn

         16  Synondres, and she is the president of the New York

         17  City Chapter.

         18                 She is also a women business owner,

         19  and is president and owner of the Mason Alexander

         20  Group, which is a commercial real estate brokerage

         21  firm here in New York City.

         22                 NAWBO is the largest collective voice

         23  of women business owners in the United States, with

         24  over 85 chapters nationwide.

         25                 NAWBO is not a trade-oriented
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          2  association. The New York City Chapter, NAWBO, NYC,

          3  represents the interests of all New York City women

          4  business owners, regardless of industry, size or

          5  owners ethnicity. Classically, our membership was

          6  Manhattan-based, but for our outreach programs our

          7  membership now geographically spans all five

          8  boroughs.

          9                 I'm honored to be invited to this

         10  session and have the opportunity to provide

         11  testimony to the procurement experience of NAWBO New

         12  York City's membership. NAWBO New York City is

         13  delighted that Mayor Bloomberg has issued the

         14  Executive Order last June detailing a plan for

         15  strengthening the City's M/WBE program.

         16                 NAWBO New York City strongly supports

         17  procurement reform. We support the establishment of

         18  the Commissioner -- excuse me, of the Commission, on

         19  Charter Revision, and are very pleased that

         20  procurement is one of the key focus areas under

         21  review. But I will say that today's, during today's

         22  hearings, I have to say that I, too, am somewhat

         23  disturbed on the lack of publicity that's been made

         24  around this topic.

         25                 There are over 230,000 women,
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          2  privately-held women-owned businesses in the New

          3  York City Metropolitan Area. These businesses owned

          4  51 percent more by women, these 230,000 represent 27

          5  percent of all privately-held firms in this New York

          6  City area.

          7                 Collectively, women-owned businesses

          8  in the Metropolitan area generate close to $35

          9  billion in annual sales. Women-owned businesses are

         10  the fastest-growing segment of privately-held

         11  companies in this area.

         12                 Over the five-year period of 1997 and

         13  2002, the number of privately-held majority or 50

         14  percent women-owned businesses grew by 11 percent,

         15  which is more than one and a half times the sector

         16  growth rate of all privately-held firms.

         17                 The New York City Women Business

         18  Enterprise is known as WBEs, rank third among the

         19  top 50 metropolitan areas nationwide in number,

         20  employment, and sales.

         21                 The WBEs in New York City represent

         22  more than one-half the total WBE count in the entire

         23  State of New York. The vast majority of WBEs in New

         24  York City are small businesses.

         25                 These statistics and more visibly

                                                            119

          1  CHARTER REVISION AND CONTRACTS

          2  indicate the strength of this economic sector, and

          3  it's importance to New York City and its residents.

          4  Clearly, the question then becomes, how much money

          5  is the City of New York spending with this important

          6  segment of the City's economic infrastructure? At

          7  the present time, we cannot answer this question as

          8  there is no public data available on which to

          9  formulate a response.

         10                 NAWBO New York City supports

         11  mandatory reporting, and tracking of NYC contracts

         12  awarded to MWBEs, both as primary contractors, and

         13  as subcontractors.

         14                 As most, MWBEs are small businesses

         15  and our numbers maintain the small businesses, big

         16  business in New York City. The City must continue to

         17  establish procurement programs that target this

         18  segment.

         19                 NAWBO New York City supports

         20  set-aside programs targeted to small   businesses,

         21  and we strongly urge expanding the existing programs

         22  of set-asides, to reach beyond the boundaries of the

         23  construction industry. A very small percentage of

         24  this important group of WBEs are in construction.

         25                 Diversity is one of NAWBO New York
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          2  City's focus areas. The City of New York should

          3  continue to work with firms that meet or exceed

          4  employment guidelines in this area. We feel

          5  reporting should be mandatory, allowing an agency to

          6  set rules about public awareness, without the

          7  opportunity and means for public evaluation, seems

          8  to undermine the very intent and spirit of MWBE

          9  programs.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: If you could wrap

         11  up your testimony?

         12                 MS. MOLTER: Okay.

         13                 Above all, NAWBO New York City

         14  supports streamlining the City procurement process,

         15  both for new contracting opportunities, as well as

         16  for renewals.

         17                 Thank you very much.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         19  much. Are there any questions from the Committee

         20  members? No. All right, thank you very much, ladies

         21  and gentlemen. Any statements on your behalf, or are

         22  you -- I see you at the table, I would like to know

         23  if there are any statements on your behalf? No?

         24  Okay, thank you.

         25                 Next we will be hearing from Michael
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          2  Stoller, Human Services Council. Okay, if we could

          3  have the Sergeant clean up the table, they

          4  accidentally spilled some water.

          5                 And our counsel will swear you in and

          6  then you can proceed in whatever specific order you

          7  have.

          8                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: If the person

          9  who is testifying could raise your right hand.

         10                 Do you swear or affirm that the

         11  testimony you're about to provide before the Council

         12  will be the truth and that you will answer all

         13  questions truthfully?

         14                 MR. STOLLER: Yes.

         15                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Thank you.

         16                 MR. STOLLER: Good afternoon, Chairman

         17  Jackson, Chairman Rivera, members of the Committees

         18  on Contracts and on Charter Revision. I'm Michael

         19  Stoller, Executive Director of the Human Services

         20  Council, and with me are a number of executives from

         21  our member agencies. Perhaps if we just went around

         22  and introduced ourselves?

         23                 MR. SISKIND: Alan Siskind, Chair of

         24  the Human Services Council.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Alan, would you
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          2  mind speaking into the mic, because we're recording

          3  this? If you don't mind. Everyone speak into the

          4  microphone. Thank you.

          5                 MR. SISKIND: Alan Siskind, Chair of

          6  the Human Services Council.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Alan, would you

          8  do me another favor? Would you press the button? If

          9  it's off, that means that it's on.

         10                 MR. SISKIND: Hopefully I'll do better

         11  later.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Oh, you sound a

         13  lot better. You don't sound like your 100 feet away.

         14                 MR. SISKIND: Alan Siskind, the Chair

         15  of the Human Services Council, and the Executive of

         16  the Jewish Board of Family and Children's Services.

         17                 SISTER LAMONICO: Sister Paulette

         18  Lamonico, Executive Director of Good Shepherd

         19  Services.

         20                 MS. GOLDMAN: Latima Goldman, CEO and

         21  Executive Director of the Federation of Protestant

         22  Welfare Agencies.

         23                 MR. COLTOF: Phil Coltof, Executive

         24  Director of the Children's Aid Society.

         25                 MR. SOLOWAY: And Ron Soloway from the
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          2  Federation of Jewish Philanthropies.

          3                 MS. DEMESE: Cynthia Demese, I'm

          4  Government Affairs Consultant for Human Services

          5  Council.

          6                 MR. STOLLER: HSC, Human Services

          7  Council, is the organized voice of the

          8  not-for-profit providers of social services in New

          9  York City.

         10                 Almost all of our more than 200

         11  member agencies currently have contracts with New

         12  York City, supplying care for children, the elderly,

         13  the homeless, youth, and others in need. We

         14  appreciate the opportunity to speak with you today

         15  about procurement issues of great importance to the

         16  human services provider community.

         17                 As you know, New York City spends

         18  over $3 billion every year on human services through

         19  contracts of thousands of not-for-profit union

         20  service organizations. This City has increasingly

         21  relied on human service agencies to provide the bulk

         22  of the system of care because of our expertise in

         23  the design and delivery of services and established

         24  record of quality service, community outreach,

         25  cultural sensitivity and customer satisfaction.
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          2                 To a degree, relationships between

          3  the contracted human service organizations and the

          4  City agencies had developed into collaborative and

          5  dynamic partnerships.

          6                 However, there are a number of issues

          7  the human service community and HSC had been

          8  pursuing for many years. These issues are discussed

          9  in more detail in HSC's 2002 report honoring the

         10  contract, the partnership between New York City

         11  government and nonprofits delivering human services,

         12  which is attached to the testimony.

         13                 Our major concerns are three that

         14  interconnect: The prevalence of retroactive

         15  contracting for human services, the exclusion of

         16  human service contracts from interest penalties for

         17  late payments and the lack of a statute that

         18  mandates time frames for action along the

         19  procurement path.

         20                 The retroactive contract, as you

         21  know, is one in which the provider begins work

         22  before the contract is registered by the

         23  Comptroller.

         24                 The Fiscal 2001 Mayor's Management

         25  Report disclosed that 73 percent of the contracts
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          2  led by the City's Human Service agencies, over 1,400

          3  individual procurements, were registered after the

          4  work started, and the work continued on average

          5  anywhere from 68 days to 136 days before the

          6  contract was finally registered.

          7                 Why does this matter? Because the

          8  City can't pay for services until the contract is

          9  registered. So the Human Service providers absorb

         10  the risk and the expense.

         11                 The City Comptroller's Office

         12  estimated that in Fiscal 2000 the cost to human

         13  service providers was $6.7 million in interest fees

         14  to banks. The providers absorbed these costs rather

         15  than discontinue service to our clients in need,

         16  using a precious portion of our budgets to pay the

         17  cost of money instead of direct service.

         18                 So what needs to be done? First,

         19  prompt contracting. The City needs a statute like

         20  the New York State prompt contracting law, which

         21  sets timeframes in which all relative agencies must

         22  act. The State law also created mechanisms to

         23  protect human service providers to be used depending

         24  on the specific circumstances.

         25                 These include advance payments,
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          2  access to an interest-free loan fund, and interest

          3  payments from State agencies responsible for delays.

          4  This need is addressed in Intro. 547.

          5                 Second, advance planning. The City

          6  needs a law with specific deadlines so that agencies

          7  are given step-by-step instructions in how to plan

          8  for their contract portfolios.

          9                 Then these plans must be communicated

         10  in a timely fashion to the providers, so that we can

         11  plan the best way to meet the City's needs.

         12                 In Human Services, more often than

         13  not the service is provided by a not-for-profit

         14  provider. The City agency is the manager of its

         15  contract portfolio, both financially and through

         16  performance evaluations.

         17                 We are partners with the City in

         18  ensuring quality care for those in need.

         19                 If we can't plan ahead, for staff

         20  training and deployment in our budget, we cannot do

         21  the job the City needs done as efficiently as we

         22  otherwise could.

         23                 A law requiring detailed procurement

         24  plans is essential, and this need is addressed in

         25  Intro. 551 and Intro. 544.
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          2                 Third, interest on late payments.

          3  When Human Service providers are paid laid, they

          4  should receive PPB mandated interest, like any other

          5  City contractor. Not surprisingly, interest payments

          6  in other sectors have proven to be a strong

          7  incentive for agencies to pay their contractors on

          8  time. This need is addressed in Intro. 545.

          9                 Fourth, Vendex. Many of our providers

         10  are multi-service, and as such, contract with any

         11  number of City agencies. Each agency demands

         12  multiple copies of the same form. It would be more

         13  efficient for the City and for us to have a single

         14  submission to be reviewed for problems in integrity

         15  by a single entity.

         16                 Further, it would be cost effective

         17  to allow for submission of these forms, as well as

         18  all contract-related information, including

         19  proposals electronically. This need is addressed in

         20  Intro. 546.

         21                 Fifth, financial audits. Human

         22  Service providers are subject to multiple financial

         23  audits on potentially every contract they have. If

         24  the contract is funded, as it often is, with monies

         25  from the federal, state and City governments, each
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          2  of these entities can and does send it auditors to

          3  the provider's office to review performance and

          4  financial data, and if the provider has a contractor

          5  with more than one City agency, auditors from both

          6  will become regular visitors to the provider's

          7  office.

          8                 The City spent $12.6 million in

          9  Fiscal 2001 on contracts with auditing companies, in

         10  addition to City agency staff time. This need is

         11  addressed in Intro. 553.

         12                 In addition, Intro. 548, which grants

         13  providers a minimum of five business days to review

         14  the final contract document before signing, and

         15  Intro. 552, which allows not-for-profits to submit

         16  an affidavit attesting to the availability of

         17  certain standard documents, like mortgage

         18  agreements, will grant much relief to overburden

         19  not-for-profits. And Intro. 549 will speed the

         20  processing of local initiatives by the Council and

         21  by the Borough Presidents.

         22                 We'd like to thank Speaker Miller,

         23  Chairman Jackson, Chairman Rivera and their staff

         24  for this comprehensive package reform legislation.

         25                 We'd also like to acknowledge the
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          2  work of the Mayor's Charter Revision Commission.

          3  Many of their proposals seek to address the needs of

          4  a not-for-profit human service sector. It is more

          5  than gratifying that these issues are on the agenda

          6  of all branches of City government, and for that we

          7  are grateful.

          8                 The Council bills go further than the

          9  Commission proposals in directly addressing the

         10  issue discussed in honoring the contract. Issues HSC

         11  and others have been advocating for many years.

         12                 We will be happy to work with you in

         13  fine-tuning these proposals, and look forward to

         14  their passing in the near future, and we look

         15  forward to working with you, the Mayor's Office, the

         16  Comptroller's Office, all interested parties, on the

         17  implementation to every day practice.

         18                 Thank you for your attention.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         20  much.

         21                 Are there any questions on behalf of

         22  the Committee?

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Mr. Stoller, I

         24  would like to thank you for coming in and giving

         25  testimony. It appears as though that based on the
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          2  testimony that you read into the record, that

          3  clearly you agree with all of the intros that we, as

          4  the City Council, have put together in our package,

          5  and by inviting not many of the -- not many, several

          6  of the principal organizations leadership here is a

          7  showing of your strength and leadership as a new

          8  executive director of the Human Services Council,

          9  and so I appreciate you coming in with the

         10  principals in order to give testimony concerning our

         11  legislative package, and I think that if I was you,

         12  I would be ecstatic that both the Mayor's Office of

         13  Contracts and the Charter Commission and the City

         14  Council appear to be on the same page.

         15                 Now, the question is, when is it

         16  going to be finalized? And whether or not when it's

         17  finalized, it will take into consideration all of

         18  your needs, meaning the human services contracts.

         19  And as I indicated to you, and at Contracts

         20  Committee, the issue that you address on behalf of

         21  the constituents that you represent are the same

         22  issues and concerns that Council members have

         23  because all of the agencies that you represent are

         24  community-based, and when the issues of nonpayment

         25  of contracts affect you as an agency in the various
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          2  non-profit organizations that you represent, we hear

          3  it specifically from the constituents that we

          4  represent. So, I appreciate you coming in and giving

          5  testimony to this very, very important, but dry,

          6  matter.

          7                 MR. STOLLER: Thank you, sir.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

          9  much.

         10                 MR. STOLLER: Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Next we will have

         12  Oliver Gray, the Associate Director of DC 37; Marcy

         13  Ben Stock, Clean Air Campaign, Inc., and Rachel

         14  Meeropol, Center for Constitutional Rights.

         15                 And I apologize for the delay. This

         16  is the last panel on the agenda for today.

         17                 Thank you very much. We'll start off

         18  with Oliver Gray, Associate Director of DC 37, and

         19  our counsel will swear you in.

         20                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Please raise

         21  your right.

         22                 Do you swear or affirm this testimony

         23  you're about to provide before the Council will be

         24  the truth and that you will answer all the Council

         25  members' questions truthfully?
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          2                 MR. GRAY: I do.

          3                 MS. STOCK: Yes.

          4                 MS. MEEROPOL: Yes.

          5                 MR. GRAY: First of all, my name is

          6  Oliver Gray, and I'm Associate Director of District

          7  Council 37, and as I heard much of the discussion

          8  back and forth here today, when people make

          9  statements about their interest in the procurement

         10  and contracting process, I kept wanting to say so

         11  are we, the union, we're very much interested. So

         12  much so that we've produced many documents and

         13  raised questions, some of them I was glad to hear

         14  being presented back to the Mayor's Office of

         15  Contracts.

         16                 We have 125,000 members who are

         17  employees of the City of New York. We have 50,000

         18  retirees. The profile of our membership is that 85

         19  percent of them live within the five boroughs. So

         20  they're affected by every aspect of the contracting

         21  process.

         22                 I want to thank both Chair Robert

         23  Jackson and Mr. Rivera for holding this hearing,

         24  because we certainly had some serious questions.

         25                 We engaged in dialogue with the
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          2  Charter Commission, meeting directly with more of

          3  the commissioners, and bringing our concerns to

          4  them, and we also presented testimony throughout the

          5  process.

          6                 We go back a long way, and I go back

          7  a long way as well, in terms of how procurement was

          8  being done in this City, when the Board of Estimate

          9  was eliminated, and the Charter Revisions of 1989

         10  came along we had the Policy Procurement Board,

         11  which was created, and the set of rules and

         12  regulations about how we were supposed to do certain

         13  aspects of the procurement.

         14                 One of the things we thought would

         15  happen over the years is that there would be greater

         16  accountability and transparency, that we would be

         17  able to understand more of the procurement process,

         18  and while, as time moved on, what we noticed is that

         19  more and more of the procurement activity was taking

         20  place outside of the view of the public, and as was

         21  indicated by the Mayor's Office of Contracts, 9

         22  billion, 6 billion, whichever the actual figure is,

         23  grew dramatically over the years, so much so that we

         24  began to raise questions about the impact of that

         25  activity on the workforce of the City.
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          2                 And what we found was that aside from

          3  the contractors getting a larger share of the City

          4  dollar, they were increasingly getting a larger

          5  share of the City workforce, and our workforce

          6  included somewhere in the range of about 30,000

          7  provisionals, 15,000 within the District Council

          8  alone. We had sectors where we, over the years,

          9  before I got there, we lost such significant numbers

         10  of people that there were concerns as to whether

         11  some of our locals would even survive.

         12                 Now, the question you might ask is

         13  why would the labor be so concerned? Well, there

         14  were two reasons. One, of course, is that when we

         15  were presented with explanations about what was

         16  going on in terms of hiring private contractors,

         17  those explanations invariably were focused on the

         18  notion of efficiency and that it costs less.

         19                 When we did our reviews and our

         20  examinations, we discovered that that was just the

         21  opposite.

         22                 So, if anything, we would urge this

         23  body to, in its deliberations, to raise questions

         24  about the nature of the contracting and procurement

         25  process, as it relates to the work that City workers
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          2  do.

          3                 Now, when the question of efficiency

          4  was one the table, we said over and over again that

          5  a well-trained City worker could do the job and do

          6  the job for less. I won't go through all of the

          7  details, but we did four research papers which we

          8  could make available to any of you where we showed

          9  in one agency after another that it was costing the

         10  City more. If the City hired a clerk to replace one

         11  of our clerks, the hourly rate might actually be

         12  less, however, the City had to pay a fee, and that

         13  was a concern of ours.

         14                 I want to comment on one aspect of

         15  the proposal that's on the table right now, which is

         16  the provision that allows the Mayor to declare an

         17  emergency and to use security as a way of getting

         18  around the regular procurement process.

         19                 We felt that if it's left entirely to

         20  the Mayor's discretion to decide on disclosing

         21  information or strategies, that this would be

         22  detrimental to the security of the citizens.

         23                 Now, under current rules, the Mayor

         24  is allowed to bypass notice and hearing requirements

         25  to let a contract in an emergency, as long as the
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          2  public notice published in City record, as soon as

          3  the emergency is over.

          4                 No such guarantee is provided under

          5  the new security provision. We believe this prevents

          6  a serious opportunity for abuse. Over the last two

          7  years, as I said we conducted our own research, and

          8  in many instances we found that the problems were a

          9  direct result of discretionary decision-making,

         10  where people made a decision.

         11                 Now, I'll give you an example. I

         12  don't know, if many of you drive, if all of you

         13  drive, in all probability, the public highways are

         14  considered, especially the I 95, as a part of the

         15  defense network of the nation. Conceivably the Mayor

         16  could say that we're going to repave a part of one

         17  of the highways and we don't need to let this bid,

         18  or we don't have to use City workers. There are many

         19  instances.

         20                 We had a recent one where the

         21  Department of Health sent a document to India to be

         22  edited. It was called, what was it, "Vital Signs."

         23  Vital Signs describes the disease patterns of New

         24  Yorkers and mortality patterns as well, and, you

         25  know, we thought that was strange that would the
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          2  Mayor find this something that he would say, well,

          3  maybe we shouldn't be sending that out because it

          4  tells us where we may be vulnerable, in terms of

          5  diseases and so forth.

          6                 We're concerned about that, and we're

          7  concerned about the lack of transparency.

          8                 One of our other concerns is in the

          9  Vendex area. We don't think that, we think the area

         10  should be improved, we don't know why it needs to be

         11  charter revisions do it, but we think that there

         12  should be more information there, and this

         13  information should specifically include things such

         14  as the wage rates, the number of workers who are

         15  hired, are the contractors going to comply, or

         16  complying with certain requirements such as

         17  prevailing wage, or living wage, and so forth?

         18                 So, we say all of this to say that we

         19  have a great deal of concern about what's going on

         20  and what's being proposed in terms of procurement.

         21                 Before this Committee, in one of the

         22  hearings we raised the question of was there ever

         23  compliance by the Office of Contracts or the

         24  agencies with the Charter requirement that they do

         25  an analysis of the impact of their contracting out
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          2  on the City workforce.

          3                 And we asked that question over and

          4  over again, and generally the answer was no. So, you

          5  know, we are concerned.

          6                 I heard much of your introduction,

          7  and I'm going to close, about the MWBE program, and

          8  I have had the pleasure of working on the labor

          9  side, and I've also been involved with the City of

         10  New York and I won't go into all of the agencies but

         11  I headed the agency known as the Bureau of Labor

         12  Services, which eventually went into the Department

         13  of Business Services, and I was responsible for the

         14  LBE program. We conducted a Croson study to

         15  establish an MWBE program which Mr. Giuliani

         16  dismantled as soon as he got into office, and I

         17  think there are some real questions as to how and

         18  why it's necessary to use the Charter when the

         19  courts, the Supreme Court has said, if you conduct a

         20  study that shows, as you are about to do, that there

         21  is significant underutilization or discrimination

         22  and that you can put in place the program, but at

         23  any rate, I want to thank you all for hearing from

         24  us today.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: All right, next.
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          2  Thank you.

          3                 MS. BEN STOCK: Marcy Ben Stock.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Marcy, press the

          5  button, please. And pull that mic up to you. You're

          6  not bashful, are you?

          7                 MS. BEN STOCK: No.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Oh, okay.

          9                 MS. BEN STOCK: Thank you.

         10                 I'm Marcy Ben Stock, Director of

         11  Clean Air Campaign. The name doesn't describe what

         12  we do that well, which is to work for public

         13  spending priorities which are environmentally sound,

         14  budget friendly, lawful and fair.

         15                 The contract procurement changes in

         16  the City Charter proposed for the ballot this

         17  November as question four would make City government

         18  less democratic, and less accountable to the public.

         19                 They would make public spending

         20  priorities choices even harder to uncover and debate

         21  in public than they are today.

         22                 The language voters will see near the

         23  bottom of the ballot is so misleading that voters

         24  may think these drastic charter changes are about

         25  buying paperclips or improving security. They

                                                            140

          1  CHARTER REVISION AND CONTRACTS

          2  aren't.

          3                 The misleading language starts with

          4  ballot question four's title "City Purchasing."

          5  Purchasing is a more boring word than contracts,

          6  that's presumably why.

          7                 These charter changes would repeal

          8  crucial sections of Chapter 13 of the Charter, which

          9  doesn't just deal with purchasing goods like

         10  paperclips, but with, quote, all goods, services or

         11  construction to be paid for out of the City

         12  treasury, or out of monies under the control or

         13  assessed by the City.

         14                 That includes all services or

         15  construction would be procured by an entity, such as

         16  the Economic Development Corporation.

         17                 The contracts governed by the current

         18  charter add up to $69 billion in taxpayers' money a

         19  year.

         20                 At a time of tax hikes and service

         21  cuts for average New Yorkers, the number in value of

         22  contracts in the City adopted budget went up this

         23  year to 19,324 contracts, valued at 6.3 billion,

         24  before the add-ons.

         25                 The Economic Development Corporation,
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          2  a so-called not-for-profit corporation, funded

          3  through the Department of Business Services, got a

          4  whopping $9 million increase in its contract this

          5  year.

          6                 The Charter Revision Commission's

          7  website provides a two-page"abstract" of the

          8  contracting changes, which is almost as misleading

          9  as the ballot language itself.

         10                 It also provides a download, a

         11  so-called final report, which took more than an hour

         12  to download, and we still couldn't figure out after

         13  an hour of pages coming over the Internet, how our

         14  City constitution was being changed.

         15                 For example, page 106, Section 9, of

         16  the Commission's report, says only "sections 318

         17  through 323 of the New York City Charter are

         18  repealed, only by downloading the whole City

         19  Charter.

         20                 Next. Was it possible to begin to

         21  figure out which existing contracting safeguards

         22  were actually going to be eliminated.

         23                 The Commission's abstract says under

         24  "administrative flexibilities, the proposed changes

         25  would allow the Procurement Policy Board to issue

                                                            142

          1  CHARTER REVISION AND CONTRACTS

          2  rules "on most of the deleted topics." It doesn't

          3  mention that this Board is controlled by the Mayor,

          4  or that these deleted topics include sole source

          5  contracts.

          6                 The Commission's abstract says this

          7  proposal would provide an exception to public notice

          8  and hearing requirements for contracts, when the

          9  Mayor decides he doesn't want notice or hearings on

         10  the basis that security is involved.

         11                 This would presumably have included

         12  the $27 million in contracts given out for an

         13  increase in ferry service after 9/11, if the Mayor's

         14  people had been able to award those contracts, and

         15  up to $90 million in contracts for

         16  privately-operated ferry terminals for a handful of

         17  commuters.

         18                 The Commission also tries to appeal

         19  to "not-for-profit and community-based

         20  organizations, especially in low-income and minority

         21  communities in its final report.

         22                 Page 92 of that report doesn't

         23  disclose that the term not-for-profit isn't just

         24  limited to hard-working grassroots groups, or human

         25  services providers. It doesn't tell you but it's
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          2  true that the term not-for-profit also applies to

          3  secretive, all powerful, unaccountable authorities,

          4  like the Economic Development Corporation which are

          5  controlled by the Mayor.

          6                 Budgets are policy. Taxpayers only

          7  hope of having a timely voice in our own city's

          8  policies is through more honest, understandable

          9  disclosure of how the Mayor's and his appointees and

         10  authorities propose to spend our money and how they

         11  spend it after it's gone.

         12                 These charter changes would

         13  facilitate less disclosure, less competition, less

         14  fairness. They would encourage corruption, the abuse

         15  of power, and misuse of public funds.

         16                 The City Council would be wise to

         17  oppose them.

         18                 Thank you. I welcome questions.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Well, thank you.

         20  You've clearly educated some of us up here on some

         21  of the details, which, you know, we don't obviously

         22  know all the details, but obviously you've done a

         23  pretty thorough analysis from the information you've

         24  just communicated here.

         25                 Next.
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          2                 MS. MEEROPOL: Good afternoon. My name

          3  is Rachel Meeropol. I'm a lawyer at the Center for

          4  Constitutional Rights, or CCR. CCR is a non-profit,

          5  legal and educational organization dedicated to

          6  advancing and protecting the rights guaranteed by

          7  the United States Constitution and the universal

          8  declaration of human rights.

          9                 CCR was founded in 1966 by attorneys

         10  who represented civil rights demonstrators in the

         11  south.

         12                 CCR has done a lot of work around

         13  employment and labor issues, and we're currently

         14  devoting a great deal of time to fighting against

         15  the incursions on civil liberties in the wake of

         16  9/11.

         17                 I'd first like to address the changes

         18  to Section 13 that would provide an exception to the

         19  public notice and hearing requirement, in situations

         20  for Mayoral determination, where notice or hearing

         21  would disclose information that could be detrimental

         22  to security.

         23                 We at CCR recognize the importance of

         24  security in a post-9/11 world. However, we must also

         25  recognize the equally important purposes served by
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          2  keeping procurement decisions open to public

          3  scrutiny. Public access to government operations

          4  serves as an all important check against economic

          5  and political abuses of power.

          6                 Past abuses in this process were

          7  surely the impetus for including the notice and

          8  hearing requirements in the Charter in the first

          9  place. And while we may have higher confidence today

         10  in the integrity of our City government, we must

         11  ensure that the mechanisms that protect our trust

         12  remain in place and that we continue to strike an

         13  appropriate balance between real security needs and

         14  the importance of open government.

         15                 As an initial matter, we at CCR have

         16  a hard time conceiving of what kind of information

         17  available through procurement hearing and notice

         18  would potentially implicate security concerns.

         19                 Moreover, it is our experience based

         20  on our work fighting the over classification and

         21  secrecy that currently reigns on the federal level,

         22  that once the Executive Branch is given the power to

         23  keep information out of the public eye, by invoking

         24  the bare sector of security, there's a tendency

         25  towards overuse of that power.
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          2                 For this reason we suggest two

          3  amendments to the proposed changes. First, we would

          4  recommend that the Commission publish examples of

          5  procurement situations which could effect security

          6  and in working from these examples create guidelines

          7  to channel the Mayor's discretion in this area.

          8                 Secondly, we recommend the creation

          9  of a City Council body, similar to the Select

         10  Committee on Intelligence in Congress, to undertake

         11  classification decisions with the Mayor.

         12                 This body could operate under a

         13  confidentiality agreement to ensure that potentially

         14  sensitive information is screened in a secure

         15  manner.

         16                 Secondly, I would like to briefly

         17  state our concern with the proposed changes to

         18  Section 22, which would remove the requirement that

         19  proposed contractors and subcontractors submit

         20  employment reports, including information on

         21  employment practices, policies, procedures,

         22  statistics and collective bargaining agreements.

         23                 It appears that this change has been

         24  recommended in the interest of greater flexibility,

         25  and seems largely designed to speed up the process
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          2  by which procurement decisions can be made.

          3                 CCR recognizes that the ability to

          4  move quickly on procurement issues is important in

          5  running a large City.

          6                 However, the employment report in

          7  particular seems to us an essential means of

          8  ensuring that City money does not go to businesses

          9  that conduct themselves in discriminatory or

         10  repressed ways.

         11                 The proposed change would place all

         12  reporting requirements at the discretion of the

         13  Commissioner of the Department of Small Business

         14  Services.

         15                 While we recognize that certain

         16  aspects of the reporting requirement could perhaps

         17  benefit from greater flexibility, it may not always

         18  be relevant for all contracts. We feel that

         19  information on labor and employment practices are at

         20  all times essential before a business is awarded a

         21  City contract.

         22                 Lawyers and activists at CCR have

         23  been engaged in a struggle for quality workers

         24  rights for decades. Today, with unemployment rising,

         25  we see it's a heightened threat of discrimination
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          2  and unfair labor practices.

          3                 In these difficult times, we feel it

          4  is all the more important to guard the victories of

          5  the past, to ensure that public money does not go to

          6  businesses that violate our shared ideals of the

          7  quality and justice in the workplace.

          8                 Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         10  much, Rachel.

         11                 With your knowledge and information,

         12  in the federal level, does the Senate Committee on

         13  Intelligence have access to all documentations, or

         14  are they limited to whatever can be given to them?

         15                 MS. MEEROPOL: I'm really not sure.

         16  I'm sorry.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Oh, okay.

         18                 Okay. Is there any other questions on

         19  behalf of the Committee?

         20                 Council Member Diana Reyna has a

         21  question.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: I just wanted

         23  to thank you, first of all, for being here, being

         24  part of the last panel, I believe. Not that I'm

         25  excited about that, but I wanted to also ask, have
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          2  any of you or all of you testified during the summer

          3  Commission's hearings that was supposedly sponsored

          4  at every borough?

          5                 MS. BEN STOCK: I'd like to answer. DC

          6  37, of course, probably testified and certainly

          7  talked to the members because they have 125,000

          8  members. They matter.

          9                 The little people who didn't matter

         10  didn't bother to go to any of the hearings and that

         11  includes the 400 people involved with my

         12  organization, because it was clear to them the fix

         13  was in for anybody who didn't matter, namely most of

         14  the people of New York City.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: How's that for a

         16  response?

         17                 MS. MEEROPOL: I would like to say

         18  that before we got this invitation to come to this

         19  hearing, I don't think anyone at CCR had any

         20  knowledge of the procurement changes. I think, you

         21  know, I consider myself and my co-workers to be

         22  pretty well informed on City politics, City issues,

         23  and none of us had ever heard anything about this.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: I appreciate

         25  your honest and direct answers. Thank you.
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          2                 MR. GRAY: By the way, we met, as I

          3  said during my testimony, we met with Commissioners.

          4  We actually gave them papers and developed materials

          5  that they would better understand the process, and

          6  it's a surprise to see some of the things that

          7  they've come up with.

          8                 Our concern is that we're going to

          9  draw the cloak over this again and as you guys had

         10  indicated, take you out of the process. I think I

         11  want to see more of the City Council.  In my former

         12  life I worked for the City Council for seven years

         13  as one of the divisions here, and I know what your

         14  oversight activity is and how important it is, and

         15  that we need more Council involvement and more

         16  questions from you, and a real partnership with the

         17  Administration. Somehow Mayors get to think they're

         18  kings and they're not.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         20  much, ladies and gentlemen. Thank you, Oliver,

         21  appreciate it, and look forward to your

         22  participation within the next hearings to come, and

         23  we urge you to obviously inform your membership of

         24  the consequences of the proposals on the ballot.

         25                 Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Well, before we

          3  conclude this Committee hearing, I'd just like to

          4  introduce for the record a letter from the New York

          5  City Liberties Union addressed to Joel Rivera, the

          6  Chair of this Select Committee and to myself. It's

          7  expressing their view that they find these proposals

          8  being put forward by the Charter Commission

          9  misguided, and then the absence of compelling

         10  evidence that indicates otherwise, they believe that

         11  the Charter Revision Commission should reject

         12  aforementioned proposal to amend New York City

         13  procurement practices. Obviously the Charter

         14  Commission has already acted so it's in now and in

         15  the hand of the voters, but they're submitting this

         16  as a matter of record and it's dated October 8th,

         17  2003.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: That is all. And

         19  meeting is adjourned.

         20                 (Hearing concluded at 4:13 p.m.)
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          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 8th day of October 2003.
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                                   ---------------------

         25                          CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.
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